
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
Resources Department 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 
 

AGENDA FOR THE PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE A 

 
Members of the Planning Sub Committee A are summoned to a meeting, which will be held in 
Committee Room 4, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on, 1 February 2018 at 7.30 pm. 
 
Yinka Owa 
Director – Law and Governance 
 

Enquiries to : Ola Adeoye 

Tel : 020 7527 3044 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 24 January 2018 

 
Welcome:  
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.  
 
Consideration of Planning Applications – This is a formal agenda where decisions are taken on 
planning applications submitted to the Council. Public speaking rights on these items are limited to 
those wishing to comment on specific applications. If you wish to speak at the meeting please 
register by calling the Planning Department on 020 7527 2278 or emailing 
enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk.   
 
Committee Membership Wards Substitute Members 
Councillor Picknell (Chair) - St Mary's; 
Councillor Nicholls - Junction; 
Councillor Gantly - Highbury 
East; 
Councillor Ward - St George's; 
Councillor Convery - Caledonian; 
 

Councillor Donovan-Hart - Clerkenwell; 
Councillor Khan - Bunhill; 
Councillor Court - Clerkenwell; 
Councillor Kay - Mildmay; 
Councillor Fletcher - St George's; 
Councillor Chowdhury - Barnsbury; 
Councillor A Clarke-Perry - St Peter's; 
Councillor Williamson - Tollington; 
Councillor Gill - St George's; 
Councillor Wayne - Canonbury; 
Councillor Poyser - Hillrise; 
Councillor Webbe - Bunhill; 
Councillor O'Halloran - Caledonian; 
Councillor Turan - St Mary's; 

Quorum: 3 councillors 

Public Document Pack

mailto:enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk


 
 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Introductions 
 

 

2.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

3.  Declarations of Substitute Members 
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and 
the council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e)  Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

5.  Order of Business 
 

1 - 2 

6.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

3 - 8 

B.  
 

Consideration of Planning Applications 
 

Page 

1.  125 Packington Street,London, N1 7EA 
 

9 - 60 



 
 
 

2.  29 Allingham Street, London, N1 8NX 
 

61 - 78 

3.  7 Oakley Crescent, Islington, London, EC1V 1LQ 
 

79 - 98 

C.  
 

Consideration of other planning matters 
 

Page 

D.  
 

Urgent non-exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

E.  
 

Exclusion of press and public 
 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining item on the agenda, 
it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within 
the terms of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the Constitution and, 
if so, whether to exclude the press and public during discussion thereof. 

 

F.  
 

Confidential/exempt items 
 

Page 

G.  
 

Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 
Date of Next Meeting: Planning Sub Committee A,  27 March 2018 
 

Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the council's 
website: 

www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


 
 
 

PROCEDURES FOR PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEES 
 
Planning Sub-Committee Membership  
Each Planning Sub-Committee consists of five locally elected members of the council who 
will decide on the applications for planning permission. 
 
Order of Agenda  
The Chair of the Planning Sub-Committee has discretion to bring forward items, or vary 
the order of the agenda, where there is a lot of public interest. 
 
Consideration of the Application  
After hearing from council officers about the main issues of the proposal and any 
information additional to the written report, the Chair will invite those objectors who have 
registered to speak for up to three minutes on any point relevant to the application. If more 
than one objector is present for any application then the Chair may request that a 
spokesperson should speak on behalf of all the objectors. The spokesperson should be 
selected before the meeting begins. The applicant will then be invited to address the 
meeting also for three minutes. These arrangements may be varied at the Chair's 
discretion.  
 
Members of the Planning Sub-Committee will then discuss and vote to decide the 
application. The drawings forming the application are available for inspection by members 
during the discussion.  
 
Please note that the Planning Committee will not be in a position to consider any additional 
material (e.g. further letters, plans, diagrams etc.) presented on that evening. Should you 
wish to provide any such information, please send this to the case officer a minimum of 24 
hours before the meeting. If you submitted an objection but now feel that revisions or 
clarifications have addressed your earlier concerns, please write to inform us as soon as 
possible.  
 
What Are Relevant Planning Objections?  
The Planning Sub-Committee is required to decide on planning applications in accordance 
with the policies in the Development Plan unless there are compelling other reasons. The 
officer's report to the Planning Sub-Committee will refer to the relevant policies and 
evaluate the application against these policies. Loss of light, openness or privacy, 
disturbance to neighbouring properties from proposed intrusive uses, over development or 
the impact of proposed development in terms of size, scale, design or character on other 
buildings in the area, are relevant grounds for objection. Loss of property value, 
disturbance during building works and competition with existing uses are not. Loss of view 
is not a relevant ground for objection, however an unacceptable increase in sense of 
enclosure is. 
 
For further information on how the Planning Sub-Committee operates and how to 
put your views to the Planning Sub-Committee please call Ola Adeoye/Jackie 
Tunstall on 020 7527 3044/3068. If you wish to speak at the meeting please register 
by calling the Planning Department on 020 7527 2278 or emailing 
enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk. 
 
 
 

mailto:enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk


Schedule of Planning Applications

PLANNING COMMITTEE -  Thursday 1 February, 2018

COMMITTEE AGENDA

125 Packington Street London N1 7EA1

29 Allingham Street

London

N1 8NX

2

7 Oakley Crescent

Islington

LONDON

EC1V 1LQ

3

125 Packington Street London N1 7EA1

St. PetersWard:

Proposed change of use of the ancillary accommodation of the existing public house (A4 use) 

at first and second floors and roofspace of the building to create 3 no . self contained 

residential flats, including first and second floor side/ rear extensions, roof terraces at first 

floor and second floor level, raising of the roof by 0 .3m and front, side and rear dormer 

windows.  Air condenser unit to the rear yard to serve the commercial unit .

RECONSULTATION: Additional drawings - First Floor Plan and Location Plan

Proposed Development:

P2015/5085/FULApplication Number:

Full Planning ApplicationApplication Type:
Daniel JeffriesCase Officer:
Friends Life LtdName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

29 Allingham Street

London

N1 8NX

2

St. PetersWard:

Erection of mansard roof extension with front roof terrace plus erection of rear lower ground 

floor infill extension and terrace at upper ground floor level . Installation of door to front lower 

ground floor level and rain water pipe to front elevation.

Proposed Development:

P2017/4729/FULApplication Number:

Full Planning (Householder)Application Type:
Joe AggarCase Officer:
Mr Martin KluteName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

Page 1 of 2Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 1

Agenda Item A5



7 Oakley Crescent

Islington

LONDON

EC1V 1LQ

3

St. PetersWard:

Retrospective application for the retention of and alterations to the erection a black metal 

chimney on the roof.

Proposed Development:

P2017/3097/FULApplication Number:

Full Planning (Householder)Application Type:
Emily BenedekCase Officer:
Anthony RawcliffeName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

Page 2 of 2Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 2



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
 

Planning Sub Committee A -  12 December 2017 
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Sub Committee A held at Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on  12 December 2017 at 7.30 pm. 

 
 

Present: Councillors: Picknell (Chair), Nicholls and Gantly 

   

Councillor Angela Picknell in the Chair 

 

 

54 INTRODUCTIONS (Item A1) 
 
Councillor Picknell welcomed everyone to the meeting. Members of the Committee and 
officers introduced themselves. 
 
 

55 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A2) 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Convery and Ward. 
 
 

56 DECLARATIONS OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A3) 
 
There were no declarations of substitute members. 
 
 

57 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Item A4) 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

58 ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item A5) 
 
The Chair informed the meeting that Item 4, Unit B4 at 5 And 6 Athelstane Mews, London, 
N4 3EH had been withdrawn by the applicant. The order of business would be B2,B1 and 
B3.  
 
 

59 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A6) 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 31 October 2017 be confirmed as an accurate 
record of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them. 
 
 

60 125 PACKINGTON STREET, LONDON N1 7 EA (Item B1) 
 

Proposed change of use of the first and second floors and roofspace of the existing ancillary 
accommodation of the public house (A4 use) to create 3 self-contained residential flats (C3 

Page 3

Agenda Item A6



Planning Sub Committee A -  12 December 2017 
 

2 
 

use), being a 1 x 3 bedroom unit and 2 x 1 bedroom units. Erection of first floor side/ rear 
extensions, roof terraces at first floor, raising of the roof by 0.3m and front, and rear dormer 
windows.  Installation of 1 x air condenser unit to the rear yard at ground floor level to serve 
the public house, adjacent to proposed refuse and cycle storage area. 
 
(Planning application number: P2015/5085/FUL) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 
 

 Members were advised that the proposed change of use of the upper floors of the 
public house to self-contained residential units was considered acceptable in terms 
of its impact in land use terms on the surrounding area and the retained public 
house 
 

 The objector at 4 Prebend Street was concerned that she had not been included in 
the assessment of the proposal by Planning Officers considering that it would result 
in loss of natural light to her child’s bedroom window.  Other concerns included the 
overdevelopment of the site resulting in a sense of enclosure and the suggestion 
that an office development rather than public house would be more preferable in the 
area. In addition she was concerned with the potential noise pollution from the 
proposed siting of the air conditioning unit and that the location of the refuse bins 
adjacent to her wall would result in an increase in vermin due to overfull bins. 
 

 The applicant advised Members that most of the objections had been addressed in 
the report and that the benefit of restoring the public house that had remained 
vacant for over 3 years outweighed any harm to the amenity of the neighbouring 
residents. 
 

 Members enquired about the methodology employed to assess the loss of light to 
the neighbouring resident. In response the Planning Officer acknowledged that in 
this instance that due to the separation distance, and given that the application site 
was located north-east from the north-west facing window, the BRE test that 
requires a 25 degree angle drawn from the centre line of the affected window would 
not be obstructed. In this case because that angle would not be breached, no further 
testing would be required and no impact, in the professional opinion of the officer 
was likely. No further testing utilising the provision of VSC and DD would be required 
as such.  
 

 A suggestion to defer the item so that an assessment could be undertaken by the 
applicant on the impact of the proposal on the loss of light to neighbouring residents 
was noted. 

 
Councillor Gantly proposed a motion to defer for the reason outlined above. This was 
seconded by Councillor Nicholls and carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That consideration of the application be deferred for the reasons outlined above. 
 
 

61 15 ST GEORGE'S AVENUE, LONDON, N7 0HB (Item B2) 
 
Basement excavation to enlarge existing cellar including creation of front lightwell with metal 
grill above.  Erection of single storey rear infill extension, replacement of door to existing 

Page 4



Planning Sub Committee A -  12 December 2017 
 

3 
 

rear ground floor extension, installation of new rooflights to rear roof slope.  Installation of 
double glazed timber sash windows to front and rear elevations at ground, first and second 
floors, installation of fanlight to front door, installation of 2x2 timber front door, installation of 
replacement lead roof over second floor front bay window, alterations to front steps and 
paving, alterations to side boundary walls with no. 13 & 17 to the front and rear of building, 
installation of timber front gate and pillars to front boundary wall. 
 
(Planning application number: P2017/2758/FUL) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 
 

 The Planning Officer advised Members that 10 objections had been received over 
the two consultation periods and issues raised included a sense of enclosure 
especially in relation to 13 St George’s Avenue, impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring residents and overdevelopment of the site. 
 

 The Planning Officer informed the meeting of an additional condition to be included 
in the recommendations to address concerns about the detail designs of the front 
door. Condition 8 shall read - The new front door shall accurately replicate, in terms 
of material, profile and detailing, the original door surviving to the property.  The door 
shall be a painted timber door comprising of two glazed panels over a single lower 
solid panel. 
 

 An objector was concerned that the assessment of the proposal was contrary to a 
number of policies in particular DM3.22,2.16 and 1.27. She was also concerned that 
the consultation process was inadequate and the potential noise pollution during the 
construction period.  
 

 A neighbouring resident was concerned that the scheme would adversely impact on 
her well-being and health having previously suffered post-traumatic stress. Objector 
was also concerned that the structural method statement provided was not detailed 
enough and that the proposal would result in light loss and a sense of enclosure.   
 

 The Planning Officers advised that noise pollution concerns would be addressed by 
a proposed condition requesting a construction management plan to be submitted 
before any works commence. With regards to concerns about the lack of a detailed 
basement excavation plan, Members were advised that although a material planning 
consideration, Officers had requested a condition that that no work should 
commence until an independent expert Structural Method Statement had been 
submitted and approved in writing in consultation with Building Control.  
 

 Members in their deliberation sought clarification of the daylight diagrams indicating 
the impact of the single storey side return infill on the neighbouring 13 St George’s 
Avenue. Officers drew Members attention to the autumn equinox diagram as the 
most standardised image. Members took the view that any additional shadow was 
barely noticeable and therefore attributed the majority of shading to the existing two 
storey closet wing.  
 

 In discussion Members advised that the proposed extension appeared similar in 
height, scale and massing as other modest extensions previously approved 
elsewhere in the borough and that it appeared to be a policy compliant proposal 
subject to conditions regarding structural method statement.  

 

Page 5



Planning Sub Committee A -  12 December 2017 
 

4 
 

Councillor Gantly proposed a motion to grant planning permission subject to the additional 
condition relating to the detailed design of the front door being submitted. This was 
seconded by Councillor Nicholls and carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1 of the 
officer report and the additional condition outlined above. 
 
 

62 UNIT B4 5 & 6 ATHELSTANE MEWS, LONDON, N4 3EH (Item B3) 
 
External alterations to the building to include the following: a replacement entrance porch 
and door to the Athelstane Mews elevation; 5 replacement windows to the Athelstane Mews 
elevation; a replacement entrance to the Charteris Road elevation; 1 replacement entrance 
door with fan and side lights to the Charteris Road elevation; the replacement of 1 ground 
floor window and 2 first floor windows to the Charteris Road elevation; the replacement of 1 
external door to the Charteris Road elevation; 2 existing openings altered and new windows 
inserted to the Charteris Road elevation; the replacement of 3 rooflights; and associated 
alterations as part of the general works to the buildings. 
 

(Planning application number: P2017/3807/FUL) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 
 

 The Planning Officer informed Members of a number of amendments and changes to 
the report- 
  -  Although Plan numbers published on the Council website on  27/9/2017 
     were correct, incorrect plan numbers in Condition 2 of the report should be 
     amended to read EX.301 – Ex.307 and PP.301-PP.307 and the Design and Access 
Statement should be dated September 2017.  

         - Para 10.23 to be deleted as the Juliet balcony is not included in this  
           proposal but the withdrawn application B4. 
          
 

 Members were advised that application was brought to Committee due to  
      the number of objections received on two applications, one of which had been 
      withdrawn. 
 

 Members were advised that although prior approval existed for the conversion of  
      the existing unit to 4 x self-contained flats, the issue before Committee for  
      consideration was for external works and alterations to the existing B8 storage  
      use. 
 

 Concerns such as the proposed change in use, overlooking, noise and  
      light pollution to neighbouring properties on the Charteris Road elevations and  
      the extra traffic and parking in and around neighbouring roads as a result of the  
      scheme.  Neighbouring residents requested that all overlooking windows should  
      be obscurely glazed, frosted and sealed. The objectors also queried the  
      roof lights, insulation of the roof and a courtyard especially if it was to remain as  
      a storage facility.     
 

Page 6



Planning Sub Committee A -  12 December 2017 
 

5 
 

 In response to concerns about the proposed works to existing windows at ground 
      floor level that fronted the rear gardens of 52-56 Charteris Road, the meeting  
      was advised that the agent had confirmed that these windows did not form part of  
      the application and any works undertaken would be for repairs. It was noted that  
      those windows are high level.  
 

 The agent informed Members that the refurbishment of the building would involve  
      external alterations to windows openings, doors, a balcony and roof lights.  
 

 Members agreed that the proposal is policy compliant and that issues raised by  
      objectors regarding government policy and applicant’s intention was not a  
      material consideration in this instance, although every sympathy with the 
      concerns was shared by Members.  
 
Councillor Picknell proposed a motion to grant. This was seconded by Councillor Nicholls 
and carried. 
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1 of the 
officer report plus the amendments within the report and the amendments to conditions 
outlined above. 
 
 

63 UNIT B4 AT 5 AND 6, ATHELSTANE MEWS, LONDON, N4 3EH (Item B4) 
 
External alterations to the buildings to include the following: a replacement entrance porch 
and door to the Athelstane Mews elevation; an existing opening adjusted to create a new 
window adjacent to the porch to Athelstane Mews; the replacement of 1 window, 
reinstatement of 2 windows and bricking up of 1 window to the ground floor of the 
Athelstane Mews elevation; the creation of a Juliette balcony to first floor level of the 
Athelstane Mews elevation; the replacement of 1 window to the first floor of the Athelstane 
Mews elevation;  2 existing window openings adjusted on the first floor of the Athelstane 
Mews elevation; the replacement of 1 window to the southern section of the Charteris Road 
elevation; 2 existing window openings and 1 door adjusted to the southern section of the 
Charteris Road elevation; the creation of a bin store to the Charteris Road access point; the 
replacement and insertion of 7 rooflights, and associated alterations as part of the general 
upgrade works to the buildings. 
 

(Planning application number: P2017/1903/FUL) 
 
Members were informed that above item had been withdrawn from consideration by the 
applicant.  
 
 

The meeting ended at 9.15 pm 
 
 
 
CHAIR 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE A AGENDA ITEM: B1 

Date: 1 February 2018 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application numbers P2015/5085/FUL 

Application types Full Planning Application  

Ward St Peters 

Listed building Opposite Grade II Listed Building to west side of 
Rheidol Terrace (Mural at City of London Academy) 

Conservation area Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area 

Development Plan Context Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area 
Article 4 Direction – office to residential Article 4 
Direction – conservation Local Cycle routes Major 
Cycle routes 

Licensing Implications Yes, but in use as existing public house 

Site Address 125 Packington Street London N1 7EA 

Proposal Proposed change of use of the first and second 
floors and roofspace of the existing ancillary 
accommodation of the public house (A4 use) to 
create 3 self-contained residential flats (C3 use), 
being a 1 x 3 bedroom unit and 2 x 1 bedroom units. 
Erection of first floor side/ rear extensions, roof 
terraces at first floor, raising of the roof by 0.3m and 
front, and rear dormer windows. Installation of 1 x 
air condenser unit to the rear yard at ground floor 
level to serve the public house, adjacent to 
proposed refuse and cycle storage area. 

 

Case Officer Daniel Jeffries 

Applicant Friends Life Ltd 

Agent Rolfe Judd Planning 

 
 
1  RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission  
 

 Subject to the conditions and legal agreement set out in Appendix 1 to the original 
report attached;  

  

  

ADDENDUM TO PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item B1



2. REASON FOR DEFERAL  

2.1 This application was previously discussed at the Planning Sub-Committee A on 12th 
December 2017 when objectors were given the opportunity to speak. 

2.2 At the Planning Sub-Committee meeting the following points were made:  

- The Members were advised that the proposed change of use of the upper floors of 
the public house to self-contained residential units was considered acceptable in 
terms of its impact in land use terms on the surrounding area and the retained public 
house 
 

- The objector at 4 Prebend Street was concerned that she had not been included in 
the assessment of the proposal by Planning Officers considering that it would result 
in loss of natural light to her child’s bedroom window.  Other concerns included the 
overdevelopment of the site resulting in a sense of enclosure and the suggestion that 
an office development rather than public house would be more preferable in the 
area. In addition she was concerned with the potential noise pollution from the 
proposed siting of the air conditioning unit and that the location of the refuse bins 
adjacent to her wall would result in an increase in vermin due to overfull bins. 
 

- The applicant advised Members that most of the objections had been addressed in 
the report and that the benefit of restoring the public house that had remained vacant 
for over 3 years outweighed any harm to the amenity of the neighbouring residents. 
 

- Members queried the methodology employed to assess the loss of light to the 
neighbouring resident. In response the Planning Officer acknowledged that in this 
instance due to the separation distance, and given that the application site was 
located north-east from the north-west facing window, the BRE test that requires a 
25-degree angle drawn from the centre line of the affected window would not be 
obstructed. In this case because that angle would not be breached, no further testing 
would be required and no unacceptable impact, in the professional opinion of the 
officer was likely.  
 

- A suggestion to defer the item so that an assessment could be undertaken on the 
impact of the proposal on the loss of light to neighbouring residents was noted.  

 
2.3 Members proposed to defer the item for further consideration on the amenity impact, in 

terms loss of daylight/sunlight to neighbouring properties in order that the Sub-
Committee could be satisfied that it would not have a significant impact. 

3. ASSESSMENT OF DAYLIGHT/SUNLIGHT 

3.1 Further information has been submitted by the applicant seeking to clarify the positioning 
of No. 4 Prebend Street in relation to the application site. This additional information 
includes a revised Block Plan (ref. 1499/EX00/Rev.A) and a First Floor Plan (ref. 
1499/PP10/Rev.A) showing the relationship of the application site building, (including the 
proposed extensions), with the immediate adjoining properties along Packington Street 
and Prebend Street including the positioning of the objector’s windows. A section 
drawing has also been submitted (see images) showing the neighbours first floor window 
in the context of the application development proposed. 

 
 

 

Page 10



                                

  Image 1: Aerial photo showing nearest opening in context of application site 

                    

Image 2: Photograph (no zoom) taken from existing first floor double doors at no. 4 
Prebend Street facing towards the rear elevation of application site with dashed line 
showing extent of extension. 

 

Page 11



 

     

Image 3: Photograph taken along Prebend Street showing relationship of application site 
with no’s 2 and 4 Prebend Street and the adjacent properties along Packington Street. 

 

3.2 A further consultation of neighbouring properties took place from the 15th January 2018 
with no additional objections received at the time of the writing of this report (the 
consultation period ends on 31st January 2018). A site visit to no. 4 Prebend Street was 
carried out by Officers on 17th January 2018 to assess the impact of the proposal on this 
neighbouring property. The positioning of this neighbours windows were noted on site.  

 
3.3 As stated within the original committee report, (attached at Appendix 1) Part A(x) of 

Policy DM2.1 requires new development to provide a good level of amenity including 
consideration of noise and the impact of disturbance, hours of operation, vibration, 
pollution, fumes between and within developments, overshadowing, overlooking, privacy, 
direct sunlight and daylight, over-dominance, sense of enclosure and outlook. 

3.4 As per the minutes of the Planning Sub-Committee A, consideration of the potential 
amenity impact caused by the development has been carried out, in terms of loss of 
daylight/sunlight on neighbouring properties. In making this assessment it is important to 
consider the methodology outlined in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) Guide 
‘Site Layout Planning for Sunlight and Daylight: A Guide to Good Practice (2011)’ and 
the British Standard BS8206-2:2008 Lighting for buildings – Part 2: Code of practice for 
daylighting. 

3.5 The BRE Guidelines gives advice on site layout to achieve good provision of daylight 
and sunlight both within buildings and in the open spaces between them. The BRE guide 
aims to aid designers in considering the relationship between new and existing buildings 
to ensure that each retains the potential to achieve good daylighting and sunlight levels. 

 

 

Page 12



Sunlight  

3.6 Part 3.2 of the BRE guidance outlines the sunlight requirements in relation to the existing 
residential buildings around a development. The reference point for sunlight calculation 
is the centre of each window facing south, measured on the inside face of the window 
wall. The BRE methodology quantifies the amount of APSH (Annual Probable Sunlight 
Hours) on the main window of each habitable room (principally main living rooms) which 
face within 90° of due south. Windows facing north need not be assessed as they do not 
have a particular requirement for sunlight, given their orientation. Sunlight levels are 
assessed for both summer and winter months.  

3.7 It should be noted that the windows at no.4 Prebend Street face almost directly north 
and therefore require no sunlight testing. 

Daylight 
 

3.8 The design of the proposal including the proposed extensions should safeguard potential 
for daylight to nearby buildings. BRE guidelines are intended for use for living areas in 
adjoining dwellings where daylight is required. The methodology is based on guidelines 
set out in the 2011 BRE Handbook. Paragraph 2.2.4 states the following: 

‘Loss of light to existing windows need not to be analysed if the distance of each part of 
the new development from the existing window is three or more times its height above 
the centre of the existing window. In these cases, the loss of light will be small. Thus if 
the new development were 10m tall, and a typical existing ground floor window would be 
1.5m above the ground, the effect on existing buildings more than 3 x (10 -1.5) = 25.5m 
away need not to be analysed’. 

3.9 No. 4 Prebend Street does not directly face the application site but runs parallel with 
Prebend Street. The nearest first floor window serving no. 4 Prebend Street, is a set of 
glazed double doors, which provides light to the existing living room, with the main front 
door directly below. The other windows on this elevation are in a recessed area at both 
ground and first floor level. These openings face in a north westerly direction toward the 
public highway and not directly onto the application site, which also provide light to living 
areas. The glazed doors, at first floor, open out on to a small balcony. The occupier of 
this property has confirmed on site that this first floor room, with the set of double doors, 
will be altered to be used as a bedroom in the future. However, in terms of the 
assessment of this application it is considered to be a habitable room, being a living 
room or a bedroom. This existing opening at first floor is set back from the public 
highway and has a courtyard providing access to no. 4 Prebend Street at ground level. 

3.10 These openings (double doors) at first floor level are approximately 12.5 metres away 
from the nearest edge of the proposed first floor extension. Having regard to paragraph 
2.2.4 of the BRE Guidelines, the centre of the closest window serving 4 Prebend Street 
window is 4m in height above ground floor level. The closest point of the first floor 
extension is 12.5m away and it would be 7.6m tall. In this regard (applying para 2.2.4 of 
the BRE guidelines), extensions more than 10.8m away from that window would ensure 
the loss of light would be small. This is shown with the following calculation 3 x (7.6 -4) = 
3 x 3.6 = 10.8m. The extension is more than 3 or more times away as the height above 
the window and therefore the impact would be less that “small” in this instance.  

Page 13



 

Image 4: Section drawing showing application site and no. 4 Prebend Street 

 

 

 

Image 5: First Floor Layout Plan showing application site and adjoining properties 

Page 14



 

3.11 There are no windows which face directly towards the proposed extension to the south 
along Prebend Street. The two nearest properties to the south of the site nos. 2 and 4 
Prebend Street. No. 2 Prebend has a flank elevation facing north towards the rear 
elevation of the host building which has no windows. The windows associated with no. 2 
and 4 Prebend Street face towards the public highway in a westerly direction. The 
windows in relation to no. 4 Prebend Road are positioned at first and ground floor levels. 

3.12 The proposal would also increase the main roof height by 300mm, including the 
provision of two front and rear dormer windows. Whilst it is acknowledged that this would 
increase the height of the application property, the separation distance between the 
nearest first floor opening at no. 4 Prebend Street, and the main roof is 14m. As noted, 
the first floor openings are facing Prebend Street and not directly towards the 
development. Officers consider that the impact on light from this part of the extension to 
be minimal and a refusal on loss of daylight in this instance given the distance (14 m) 
and orientation of the windows towards the street would not be justified. 

3.13 Whilst the rear elevation of the application site is visible from this window at no. 4 
Prebend Street and from the balcony there would not be an unacceptable impact on this 
neighbours amenity. Given the orientation of no. 4 Prebend Street, (with the extension 
located to the north west of this window and north west of the application site) and 
separation distance, of 12.5m, at the nearest point of the first floor extension, it is 
considered that any loss of daylight would be small (as per BRE guidance) and not 
warrant a refusal. In addition, due to the orientation and separation distance of 14m 
between these existing windows the proposal is not considered to result in any 
significant overlooking over and above the existing situation. It should also be noted that 
a condition has been recommended in relation to details of the screening to the first floor 
roof terrace prior to its first use. 

3.14 Overall, it is therefore considered given the separation distances between the adjoining 
properties, together with the position of the extensions, located to the western half at first 
floor level, and at roof level, the proposal would not result in any significant loss of 
daylight to the north/north west facing no. 4 Prebend Street windows, having regard to 
paragraph 2.2.4 of the BRE Guide. 

3.15 The revised wording of the proposed conditions is set out as follows: 

Condition 2: 

CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: Environmental Noise Survey and NPPF Assessment 
Report (Author: Hann Tucker Associates 18/8/2015), 22166/NPPF1, Supporting 
Statement, Design and Access Statement Rev.A (Dated 7/11/2016), PP01/Rev.A, 
PP02/Rev.A, PP03/Rev.A, PP04/Rev.A, PP05/Rev.A, PP06/Rev.A, PP07/Rev.A, 
PP08/Rev.A, PP09/Rev.B, EX00/Rev.A, EX01, EX02, EX03, EX04, EX05, EX08, EX06, 
EX07, EX09 1499/PP10/Rev.A.  
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning 
 
 

 

Page 15



 

4.  CONCLUSION 

4.1 The proposal is for the change of use of the first and second floors and roofspace of the 
existing ancillary accommodation of the public house (A4 use) to create 3 self-contained 
residential flats (C3 use), being a 1 x 3-bedroom unit and 2 x 1 bedroom units. Erection 
of first floor side/ rear extensions, roof terraces at first floor, raising of the roof by 0.3m 
and front, and rear dormer windows. Installation of 1 x air condenser unit to the rear yard 
at ground floor level to serve the public house, adjacent to proposed refuse and cycle 
storage area. 

 
4.2 As considered with the original report (Appended), the provision of new self-contained 

residential units on the upper floors, and reinstatement of the ground and basement 
levels as a public house at the host building is considered acceptable. The 3 no. 
proposed residential units are considered to provide a good standard of accommodation, 
with dual aspect and access to sunlight/daylight and would be subject to noise mitigation 
measures secured by condition. 
 

4.3 The proposed external alterations are considered to be compliant with the design 
guidance found within both the Urban Design Guide 2017 and Duncan 
Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area Design Guidelines. It is considered the 
statutory duties under Section 66 (1) and Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in terms of preserving the visual appearance and 
historic character of the host building and wider Conservation Area and the setting of the 
Grade II Listed Building are met by these proposals.  
 

4.4 The proposal is considered not to result in any significant amenity issues in terms of loss 
of daylight/sunlight, outlook, privacy or a sense of enclosure to neighbouring properties, 
due to their scale, position and setbacks from neighbouring properties. 
 

4.5 The proposal is considered compliant with the requirements of financial contributions in 
relation to small sites affordable housing, and being a car-free, which would be secured 
by way of a Unilateral Undertaking. 
 

4.6 The development is considered to be compliant with the policies in the London Plan, 
Islington Core Strategy, Islington Development Management Policies and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and as such is recommended for approval. 
 

4.7 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out 
in Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATION. 

  

Page 16



 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE A  

Date: 12 December 2017 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application number P2015/5085/FUL 

Application type Full Planning Application  

Ward St Peters 

Listed building Opposite Grade II Listed Building to west side of Rheidol 
Terrace (Mural at City of London Academy) 

Conservation area Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area 

Development Plan Context Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area 
Article 4 Direction – office to residential 
Article 4 Direction – conservation 
Local Cycle routes 
Major Cycle routes 

Licensing Implications Yes, but in use as existing public house 

Site Address 125 Packington Street London N1 7EA 

Proposal Proposed change of use of the first and second floors and 
roofspace of the existing ancillary accommodation of the 
public house (A4 use) to create 3 self-contained 
residential flats (C3 use), being a 1 x 3-bedroom unit and 
2 x 1 bedroom units. Erection of first floor side/ rear 
extensions, roof terraces at first floor, raising of the roof by 
0.3m and front, and rear dormer windows.  Installation of 
1 x air condenser unit to the rear yard at ground floor level 
to serve the public house, adjacent to proposed refuse 
and cycle storage area. 

 

Case Officer Daniel Jeffries 

Applicant Friends Life Ltd 

Agent Rolfe Judd Planning 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
  The Committee is asked to resolve to APPROVE planning permission: 
 

1. Subject to the conditions and a Section 106 legal agreement to secure the heads of 
terms as set out in Appendix 1;  
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 
PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 
 

 

Page 17



2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
 
 
 

  

Page 18



2. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 
 

  
 

Image 1:  Aerial view of the application site 
 

Site 

Page 19



  
 

Image 2: Aerial view in easternly direction 

 

 
 

Image 3: View of front elevation of host building facing north west towards junction with 
Prebend Street (taken standing on Packington Street) 

Site 

Page 20



 

 
 

Image 4: View of side and front corner elevations facing south towards the junction of 
Packington Street and Prebend Street (taken standing on Prebend Street) 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 21



Image 5:  View of rear and side elevations of the host property, facing north east (taken 
from Prebend Street outside entrance to City of London Academy). 

 
 
4. SUMMARY  
 
4.1 Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the upper floors of the existing 

public house (A4 use) to 3 no. self-contained residential units (C3 use). Extensions are 
also proposed to the host building, being a single storey extension to the rear elevation 
at first floor level and the creation of two roof terraces above and adjacent to this rear 
extension, alterations at roof level including the raising of the ridge height. The 
proposal would use the existing courtyard to the rear of the host building to house the 
refuse and cycle storage for both the residential and public house, and a condenser for 
an air-conditioning unit is proposed to be located to the existing rear court yard, also.  
 

4.2 The application is brought to committee as a result of five objections received. 
  
4.3 The issues arising from the application are the principle of the loss of the ancillary 

accommodation of the upper floors of the existing public house, the compatibility of the 
proposed residential units with the retention of the public house, the quality of 
accommodation of the proposed residential units, the amenity impact on neighboring 
residential properties, and the visual appearance of the extensions. 

 
4.4 Whilst there are concerns in relation to the lack of marketing evidence submitted in 

relation to loss of the upper floors, being ancillary accommodation of the public house, 
to residential use (C3) and the proposals general compliance with policy DM4.10. 
However, notwithstanding this lack of marketing information, the loss is considered 
acceptable given the existing vacant situation of the public house for over 3 years. The 
proposed use of the upper floors as a residential use is considered to be compatible 
with the public house, subject to noise mitigation measures. These residential units are 
considered to provide satisfactory living conditions to future occupiers to meet the 
requirements of policy DM3.4.  
 

4.5 The design of the proposed extensions, including the roof terraces, are considered 
acceptable, subordinate to the host building and would pay special regard to preserving 
the heritage assets of the surrounding Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation 
Area and the nearby Grade II Listed Building, being the mural on the opposite side of 
Prebend Street, and along Packington Street. It is therefore compliant with Islington 
Core Strategy (2011) CS8 and CS9 policies, DM2.1 and DM2.3 of the Development 
Management Policies (2013), the Urban Design Guide (2017) and Conservation Area 
Design Guidelines. 
 

4.6 In addition, the proposal is not considered to prejudice the residential amenity of 
neighbouring properties insofar of loss of light, outlook or increased sense of 
enclosure, nor loss of privacy and is compliant with policy DM2.1 in this regard.  

 
4.7 The applicant has confirmed agreement to the payment of financial contributions for 

affordable housing, being £150,000 (full amount). This would be secured by way of a 
Section 106 legal agreement. 
 

4.8 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and it is recommended that the 
application be approved, subject to conditions and legal agreement. 

 
5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 

Page 22



5.1 The application site is located to the corner of the Packington Street, located to the 
north east, and Prebend Street to the north west. The site is located in a mainly 
residential area, characterised by two and three storey residential properties along both 
Packington Street and Prebend Street. To the north of the public highway of 
Packington Street, there is a four storey building with a setback fifth storey as part of 
the Packington Estate redevelopment consisting of residential units on the upper floors 
and retail units on the ground floor. To the west of Prebend Street, there is the City of 
London Campus Islington, which consists of a large three storey building set away from 
Prebend Street.   

5.2 The host building compromises the public house (A4 use) building formerly known as 
Packington Arms, which is a part three storey, part single storey building, with a pitched 
roof. The vacant public house comprises a ground floor bar area and an associated 
basement with ancillary residential accommodation on the upper floors.  

5.3 The application building is not listed but the site is located within the Colebrook 
Row/Duncan Terrace Conservation Area. The site is also located within an area with 
both Local and Major Cycles routes. A Grade II Listed Building is located to the 
opposite side of Prebend Street, which is a mural at the City of London Academy. The 
mural is a rare-surviving work of 1960s public art produced by one of two London 
County Council in-house artists, measuring 10.4m by 4.3m and is located on the 
outward side of the wall of the former gymnasium to the school. It is a semi-abstract 
mosaic with tile, broken china, glass and tesserae on concrete backing. The design 
comprises a large pair of compasses with a circular hinge which bears the image of a 
face. 

 
6. PROPOSAL (in Detail) 
 
6.1 Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the upper floors of the ancillary 

accommodation of the public house (A4 use) to create 3 no. self-contained residential 
flats (C3 use), at first, second and third floor levels. The proposal would also include 
the erection of a single storey extension to the rear, at first floor of the host building, 
with associated roof terraces at first floor and second floor level, above and adjacent to 
this extension. Also the proposal would raise the ridge of the main roof by 0.3m and 
incorporate 2 no. dormer windows on both the front and rear roof slopes. The other 
changes would include 1 no. air-condenser unit to the rear yard to serve the public 
house, which would also house the proposed refuse and cycle storage areas for both 
uses. 
 

6.2 The proposed residential units would include 1 no.  three-bedroom self-contained 
residential unit (Flat 1), with an internal area of 83 sqm, and 2 no. one-bedroom self-
contained residential units, with an internal area of 50 sqm (Flat 2) and 56 sqm (Flat 3). 
The extensions at first floor would be erected over the single storey flat roofed element 
of the host building, and across half side elevation of the host building. There would be 
a roof terrace associated with the Flat 1 (9 sqm), positioned immediately adjacent to 
the extension, and on the roof of this first floor extension to the side/rear of the host 
building associated with Flat 2 (14 sqm). The dormer extensions at roof level are 
associated with Flat 3. No outdoor amenity space will be provided for Flat 3. 

 
6.3 The proposed single storey rear extension at first floor level would measure a 

maximum of 4.1m in depth, following the shape of the roof below, at width of 5.3m, at a 
height of 3.3m. The balustrades for the two roof terraces would measure 1.1m above 
the flat roof of the proposed extension, consisting of powder coated metal planters, and 
the flat roof of the single storey addition, consisting of a parapet wall and metal railings. 
The two dormers to the rear elevation would project 1.2m, and the two dormers to the 
front elevation by 0.5m, from the existing roofslope, at a width of 1.4m and a height of 

Page 23



1.7m. The proposal would also involve changes to the windows to the rear elevation 
associated with the roof terraces and the reinstatement of the windows and doors 
associated with the public house at ground floor level. 
 

6.4 The proposal has been amended since the time of the original proposal which 
previously sought to change the use of the ground and basement levels of the public 
house (A4 use) to a flexible A1(retail), A2 (professional and financial services), 
A3(restaurant/café), A4(public house) or B1(business) use. The change of use has 
been removed from the proposal and the application now proposes to retain A4 use at 
basement and ground floor levels. The proposed extensions at first and roof (third floor) 
levels have also been reduced in size. 
  

7. RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  
 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

 125 Packington Street 

7.1  P121156 – Planning permission refused, and take enforcement action, for retrospective 
application for change of use basement, first and second floors of building from ancillary 
accommodation associated with ground floor public house (use class a4) to youth hostel 
(Sui generis) on 12-08-2013. Reasons:  

 1) The change of use to a youth hostel is unacceptable due to the site’s inappropriate 
location outside the CAZ and designated Town Centre. The site is situated in a 
predominantly residential neighbourhood and does not benefit from excellent access to a 
range of public transport modes.  

 2) The change of use to a youth hostel would have an unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity, in light of its potential to generate noise and anti-social behaviour.  

 3) The development has failed to provide 105 of rooms that are wheelchair accessible. 

7.2 P021183 – Planning Permission granted for elevational alterations to Public House on 
12/11/2002. 

7.3 971416 – Planning Permission granted for Alterations to elevations on 23/09/1997. 

 Recent Appeal Decision 

 57 St John Street  

7.4 Planning Permission and Listed Building (refs. P2016/4585/FUL and 
P2016/4661/LBC) Refurbishment and internal reconfiguration of existing public house (A4) 
and change of use and subdivision of the upper floors (first, second, third and fourth) into 
four self-contained flats, with associated creation of separate access, formation of a roof 
terrace to the fourth floor and at roof level and other associated works. Appeal for non-

determination Allowed on 14/09/2017 (refs. APP/V5570/W/17/3169148 and 

APP/V5570/W/17/3169153) as it was considered that the loss of the first and ancillary 
accommodation of the public house would not harm the future viability of the business, 
works would preserve the special architectural and historic interest of the grade II listed 
building and the character and appearance of the Clerkenwell Green Conservation Area, 
and the would have an acceptable effect of development upon the living conditions of 
future and neighbouring occupants in respect of noise and disturbance. 

 ENFORCEMENT 
 
7.5 E12/06118 - Unauthorised hostel. Without planning permission, the change of use of 

the basement, first and second floors of the property to a youth hostel. Enforcement 

Page 24



Notice Issued on 19/08/2013. The case was subsequently closed on 26th January 
2017. 

 
 PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 

7.6 None 

 
 
 
8. CONSULTATION 

 
Public Consultation 

 
8.1 Letters were sent to 13 occupants of adjoining and nearby properties at Packington 

Street, and Prebend Street on 19th February 2016, and site and press adverts were 
displayed. The original public consultation of the application expired on 11 March 2016. 
Subsequent to this original consultation period, the proposal has been amended to 
alter the design of the extensions, the internal layout, to alter the change of use of the 
basement and ground floor to be retained as a public house and the number of 
residential units. As such additional 14-day consultation has been carried out, on 30th 
November 2016 and 31st October 2017. The consultation period has expired on 14th 
November 2017. 

 
8.2 It is the Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up until the 

date of a decision. At the time of writing of this report 5 no. objections in total had been 
received from the public with regard to the application. The issues raised can be 
summarised as follows (with the paragraph that provides responses to each issue 
indicated in brackets): 

 
- Design and visual appearance of the extensions, to rear elevation and at roof level, 

including roof terraces, to the host building (Paragraphs 10.22 to 10.25 and 10.28 to 
10.33) 

- Sense of enclosure to residential properties along Rheidol Terrace and Prebend 
Street (Paragraph 10.46) 

- Loss of privacy to neighbouring properties including rear garden (Paragraphs 10.49) 
- Anti-social behaviour as a result of the public house (Paragraph 10.67-10.70) 
- Noise impact from air condenser unit to neighbouring properties along Prebend 

Street (Paragraph 10.52) 
- Increased vermin as a result of the refuse area (Paragraph 10.74) 
- Object to the principle of the use of the building a public house (Paragraphs 10.2 to 

10.6) 
 

Internal Consultees 
 
8.3 Design and Conservation Officer: Objected to the original proposal. However, they 

have confirmed that the amendments have addressed their concerns and the proposed 
design is now acceptable. 
 

8.4  Highways: No comments received.  
  

8.5  Sustainability: No comments received. 
 

8.6 Noise and Pollution Officer: Raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions. 
 

Page 25



8.7 Refuse and recycling: No comments received. 
 

8.8 Accessibility: Raised concerns in relation to the lack of level access. 
 

8.9 Policy: Confirmed that they have no objections to the given the existing vacant situation, 
for over 3 years, and that the upper floors have not been used in relation to the pub (it 
does not involve the loss of operational pub floorspace such as a bar area or dining 
room). However, they have raised concerns in terms of the lack of marketing information 
and would expect some evidence to demonstrate compliance with policy. They have also 
raised no particular concerns in relation to compliance with the criterions of DM4.10 (ii to 
iv). 

 
8.10 Secured by Design: Raised no objections and considers that the reinstated pub and 

residential use above would improve the existing situation in terms of crime, but raised a 
few concerns in relation to first floor roof and access arrangements. 

 
External Consultees 
 

8.11 None 

 
9. RELEVANT POLICIES  

 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This 
report considers the proposal against the following Development Plan documents. 

 
National Guidance 

 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 

seek to secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, 
environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG 
are material considerations and have been taken into account as part of the assessment 
of these proposals.  

 
Development Plan   

 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 

2011, Development Management Policies 2013. The policies of the Development Plan 
that are considered relevant to this application are listed at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
9.3 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10. ASSESSMENT  
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Land Use 

 Design and Conservation 

 Quality of accommodation 

 Neighbouring Amenity including sunlight/daylight 

 Accessibility  

 Highways and Transportation 

 Trees 

Page 26



 Refuse 

 Sustainability 

 Anti-social behaivour 

 Affordable Housing 

 Other Matters 
 

Land Use 
 

10.2 The proposal seeks to change the use of the upper floors of the host property which 
are ancillary accommodation to a public house (A4 use) in order to create 3 no. self-
contained residential flats. In terms of assessing the loss of this ancillary A4 
accommodation, policy DM4.10 is most relevant. 

10.3 DM4.10 ‘supports the retention of Public Houses, and opposes their redevelopment, 
demolition and Change of Use’. Part B provides advice in relation to the information 
required for applications for the Change of Use, redevelopment and/or demolition of a 
Public House. It states that they must demonstrate that they meet the following points: 

 i) the Public House has been vacant for a continuous period of 2 years or more and 
continuous marketing evidence has been provided for the vacant 2-year period to 
demonstrate there is no realistic prospect of the unit being used as a Public House in 
the foreseeable future;  

 ii) the proposed alternative use will not detrimentally affect the vitality of the area and 
the character of the street scene;  

 iii) the proposal does not constitute the loss of a service of particular value to the local 
community; and  

 iv) significant features of historic or character value are retained. 

10.4  In addition to policy DM4.10, paragraphs 4.52 to 4.54 of the Development Management 
Policies (2013) provide supporting text stating ‘Islington's Public Houses form an 
integral part of the urban fabric and many are closely associated with the life and 
identity of local communities. Public Houses therefore play an important role in the 
historic character and community function of Islington's neighbourhoods’. Furthermore, 
it states ‘the council will resist proposals that result in the removal of a public house or 
a change of use away from the A4 Use Class, particularly where these would 
detrimentally affect the street scene, result in loss of historic or character value, and/or 
constitute the loss of a function of particular value to the local community’. Also that 
‘continuous marketing evidence will be required demonstrating lack of demand for the 
Public House’.  

10.5  The land use advice in the Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Design 
Guidelines (2002) is also relevant. Paragraph 3.3 states that ‘the Council will operate 
its land use policies so as to enhance the character and vitality of the area.  Planning 
permission will not be granted to change, expand or intensify uses which would harm 
the character of the conservation area’. Paragraph 3.4 also states ‘the predominant 
character of the area is residential, although permission will not be granted for the over 
intensification of residential use in conversion schemes. There are commercial 
frontages, for example, on Essex Road, Danbury Street, St Peter's Street and City 
Road which provide local services and are an important contribution to the character of 
the area.  Generally, the Council recognises that often the best use for a building is that 
which it was designed for and will seek to retain public houses, shops and workshops 
in appropriate uses which will not diminish their special interest.  The removal of 
individual established uses within the conservation area will not be permitted where 
they contribute to its character’. 

Page 27



 Loss of A4 use 

10.6 The retention of both the ground floor and basement levels as a public house (A4 use) 
is welcomed. The upper floors form part of the public house use, albeit ancillary, as 
residential accommodation, and therefore should be assessed against the above policy 
advice. 

10.7 The applicant has provided a supporting statement to address the requirements of 
policy DM4.10. It confirms that the public house on the ground and basement floors 
and ancillary uses on the upper floors have been vacant for over 3 years. The applicant 
has confirmed that the property has remained vacant for a long period of time while the 
owner reviewed options to redevelop. The applicant has also confirmed that the upper 
floors have not been marketed, either separately or as part of the public house as a 
whole.    

10.8 However, in support of the application the applicant has confirmed that the upper floors 
have not been used in association with any pub use on the site for a considerable 
length of time, being over 3 years. In 2013, a retrospective application was made for 
the use of the basement, first and second floor as a hostel. The application was 
refused and an enforcement case was opened. The hostel use ceased at basement, 
first and second floor levels and the lawful A4 use, to the public house, albeit vacant. 
The applicant has confirmed that the upper floors have not been used by the pub 
tenant for at least 4 years. Based on the business rates and historical photographs the 
host property has not been used as a public house since at least October 2009. The 
upper floors also have independent access. The future success and use of the public 
house is therefore not affected or determined by the change of use or loss of the upper 
floors. The pub has been closed for several years, being at least 8 no. years, with the 
building being temporarily being used on the upper floors by a live-in security guard. 
The building is boarded up with metal grills on the lower floors and all windows are 
boarded up. 

10.9 The applicant considers that the existing building arguably has a detrimental impact on 
the vitality and character of the area by remaining boarded up and vacant for such a 
long time and seeks planning permission to bring the property into use. The quality of 
the accommodation is extremely poor. There are currently 9 rooms on the upper floors 
and would not likely be required for a future modern day pub tenant. The upper floors 
require complete refurbishment. The electrical infrastructure is dated and requires 
repair, windows need replacing, plumbing is basic and requires upgrading, and the roof 
requires replacing. The applicant advises that the cost of these works as a 
refurbishment of the existing floors for a commercial use which would remain vacant 
would not lead to development, although no evidence has been submitted in support of 
this. The level of works would be viable for a residential conversion which would bring 
the property back into use and pay small sites contribution. 

10.10 The supporting statement also confirms that given the vacancy of the public house it 
has not been a service to the local community for years, and the host building has not 
been designated as an Asset of Community Value.  

10.11 In terms of assessing the loss of the upper floors of the public house (ancillary 
accommodation), it is acknowledged that the information does not strictly accord with 
the requirements of policy DM4.10. However, the only ground floor elements of the 
proposal, apart from those relating refuse and cycle storage to the external courtyard, 
relate to the existing independent access to the upper floors and the associated 
internal staircase. However, this access is considered not to interfere or prejudice the 
use or operation of the public house on the ground floor. 

10.12  Whilst there are some differences to this proposal, a recent Appeal Decision (refs. 
APP/V5570/W/17/3169148 and APP/V5570/W/17/3169153) at no. 57 St John Street, 

Page 28



for the redevelopment of a public house is considered relevant in the assessment of 
this application. This application, which the site is also in conservation area, being the 
Clerkenwell Green Conservation Area, included the retention of the ground floor and 
basement levels as a public house, with the change of use of the upper floors to 
provide new self-contained residential units, including one which would be occupied by 
a future landlord. In land use terms, the main differences are that the public house was 
currently in operation, but also included the loss of operational areas to the public 
house at first floor, in the form of a dining room, in addition to the loss of ancillary 
residential accommodation. 

10.13 The Appeal Decision concluded that the proposal would be acceptable in land use 
terms as it would not cause harm to the viability of the use of the public house, even 
though no marketing evidence was provided to demonstrate compliance with Policy 
DM4.10.  Paragraph 19 the Appeal Decision states ‘requirements of Policy DM4.10 
relates to the total loss as it only requires evidence to demonstrate that the Public 
House has been vacant for a continuous period and that it has been continuously 
marketed to demonstrate there is no realistic prospect of the unit being used as a 
Public House’. Given that the lack of marketing evidence within this application 
therefore is considered not to be constraint in terms of the acceptability of the proposal, 
given that there be no loss of operational floorspace, and it would retain and reinstate 
the use of the operational areas of the public house at basement and ground floor 
levels. 

  

 Principle of residential accommodation 

10.14  In terms of the proposed use of the upper floors for residential accommodation, given 
the site is within a residential area, the principle of providing additional residential 
accommodation is considered acceptable. This is supported by Policy 3.3 of the 
London Plan 2016 which recognises the pressing need for more homes in London, and 
paragraph 3.2 of Development Management Policies (2013) stating ‘high density 
development is needed to accommodate the projected population growth within the 
borough’. 

10.15 Notwithstanding the acceptability of the residential accommodation in this location, it is 
important that it would be compatible with the existing use of the public house, and 
would not prejudice its long term viability or result in poor living conditions for future 
occupiers of the self-contained residential units. These matters have also been 
addressed in the body of the report below. It is therefore considered that overall, the 
change of use of the existing ancillary residential accommodation of the public house to 
self-contained residential flats is considered acceptable in land use terms. 

 
Design and Conservation 

 
10.16 Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires Local Authorities to have special regard to the desirability of preserving a 
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural interest which it 
possesses. Section 72 (1) of the Act requires the Local Authority to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving the character and appearance of Conservation 
Areas within their area.  

 
10.17 Paragraph 134 of the NPPF sets out that where a development proposal will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its 
optimum viable use. 

 

Page 29



10.18  Policy DM2.3 of the Development Management Policies requires the significance of 
Islington’s conservation areas to be conserved or enhanced. New developments within 
Islington’s conservation areas and their settings are required to be of high quality 
contextual design so that they conserve or enhance a conservation area’s significance. 
 

10.19  The Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area is predominantly residential 
and largely made up of late Georgian and early Victorian terraces. There are also 
important commercial uses in the area which contribute to its character.  The Regent's 
Canal and City Road Basin are also important features, the former emerging from the 
Islington Tunnel at Vincent Terrace.  A small section of the New River Walk also runs 
through the area.  Overall the area has a remarkable architectural consistency, 
homogeneity and historic interest, which gives the area its special character and 
appearance.  

 
10.20 The host property is located on the corner of Packington Street and Prebend Street, 

and consists of three storeys with roof level above. Whilst the host building is not 
statutory or locally listed, it is a visually prominent building with views possible from a 
number of vantage points including along Prebend Street, from the north and south, 
and along Packington Street, to the east and west. In addition, the Grade II Listed 
Building mural at the City of London located to the south of Packington Street on the 
opposite corner with Prebend Street to the west. 
 

10.21   The Islington Urban Design Guide 2017 provides advice in relation to acceptable 
forms of design of development within the Borough. Whilst it is acknowledged that the 
existing use is not residential, paragraphs 5.131 to 5.137 are considered relevant, 
which provide general advice in relation to residential extensions and alterations. It 
advises that ‘all proposals for residential extensions and alterations should take into 
account bulk, height, massing, materials and proportion and how they relate to 
adjacent heritage assets, uses, building alignment and general treatment of setting. 
Where the proposal is within a Conservation Area, applicants should have reference to 
the guidance within the applicable Conservation Area Statement’. 

 
First Floor extension 
 

10.22 Paragraph 5.139 of the UDG provides advice in relation to the upper floor extensions, 
stating ‘on the upper floors, the materials, detailing and form of the extension should 
normally be sympathetic to the terrace. Single half-width upper floor extensions above 
existing extensions are often acceptable providing there is a punctuating gap between 
the eaves height and the top of the extension’.   
 

10.23 The Conservation Design Guidelines is also relevant. Paragraph 3.21 provides general 
advice stating that ‘extensions are subordinate to the mass and height of the main 
building, and extensions and refurbishment in conservation areas, the Council will 
normally require the use of traditional materials, stated within paragraph 3.11. Also 
paragraph 3.20 states ‘half width rear extensions higher than two storeys, will not 
normally be permitted in this conservation area, unless it can be shown that no harm 
will be caused to the character of the area’. 
 

10.24 The proposed upper floor extension would be positioned above the existing single 
storey element of the host building, to the north of the site, between the both 
Packington Street and Prebend Street, resulting in a two storey addition to the rear 
elevation of the host building. The extension would be restricted to half the width of this 
elevation, which is considered to be compliant with the above advice, in terms of its 
bulk and massing. It would also provide the required punctuating gap between the roof 
of the extension and the eaves of the main roof. It is acknowledged that this extension, 

Page 30



would be a prominent addition and visible from the public realm, but it is considered 
given its compliance with the above advice and that it is considered to be subordinate 
to the host building its height, scale, bulk and massing would be acceptable.  

 
 
 

  
Image 6: Existing and Proposed Rear Elevation of proposed extension and roof 

terraces 
 
 
 
 
 

10.25 The design of this element of the proposal would project so that it would match the side 
elevation of the host building, following the existing building line along Prebend Street, 
and restricted to half width of this rear elevation, with a flat roof, and is considered to be 
consistent with the visual appearance of the host building. The proposed fenestration 
details and materials are considered to be in keeping with the visual appearance of the 
host building and the surrounding area. 

 
Roof terraces 
 

10.26 Two roof terraces, with associated balustrades, are proposed to be positioned above 
and adjacent to this extension, at second and first floor levels. Paragraphs 5.171 to 
5.173 of the Urban Design Guide 2017 provide advice in relation to design 
considerations of roof terraces. It states ‘introduction of a roof terrace or balcony, the 
main considerations should be:  

Page 31



 

 The scale and visual prominence.  

 The impact on the established townscape and architectural style.  

 The impact on neighbouring properties (overlooking and visual amenity)’. 
 
Paragraph 5.73 states ‘where roof terraces are acceptable, care should be taken to 
minimise the visual clutter created by balustrades and privacy screening’. 
 

10.27 The design of the proposed roof terraces would include a combination of metal 
balustrades, raised parapet walls and metal railings around the perimeter, measuring a 
height of 1.1m above the flat roof. It is acknowledged that this would result in additional 
bulk to the host property, especially combined with the proposed extension, and would 
be visible from the public realm. However, the balustrades would be restricted in 
height, with those to the first floor being relatively lightweight, with the use metal 
railings, which would allow light to pass, and metal planters at second floor which 
would be positioned behind a parapet wall. Given this situation it is considered that 
these proposed roof terraces would be acceptable in design terms. 
 
Extension to the main roof 
 

10.28 The other external alterations include those to the main roof, including raising the 
ridgeline, by 300mm, the removal of a chimney and two proposed dormers positioned 
both the front and rear elevations. In addition, there would be two rooflights on top of 
the main roof. 

 
10.29 The Conservation Area Design Guidelines has special roof policies with paragraph 

3.14 stating the following:  
 

i) the Council may permit traditional roof extensions on the properties listed in Schedule 
3.2. Notwithstanding this schedule, the Council will take into consideration the listed 
status of any of the properties in Schedule 3.2 when considering appropriate 
extensions. Special regard must be paid to the retention of historic fabric where it exists 
and any extension which might be acceptable in townscape terms will still require 
careful and detailed examination; 
ii) for all properties not listed in Schedule 3.2, no roof extensions, rooflights or 
associated party wall alterations, will be permitted which are visible from the street or 
public area, including long views from side streets, open spaces or the canal and its 
towpath; 

 
10.30 The Conservation Design Guidelines supporting text states ‘the roofline of a street, 

particularly on terraces, is a major component of its character.  The vast majority of 
properties in this area have hidden valley roofs behind front parapets.  The construction 
of roof extensions which are not in keeping with the terrace can be damaging to its 
architectural unity, and have a deleterious effect upon the character and appearance of 
the conservation area’. 
 

10.31 Whilst advice is provided within the Urban Design Guide 2017, within paragraphs 5.145 
to 5.151, in relation to roof extension this relates to residential properties, particularly in 
relation to residential terraces, which this building is not. The unique building is a 
unique building different in design and detailing to the adjacent terrace.  In this 
instance, it is acknowledged that the host building does not fall within Schedule 3.2 of 
the Conservation Area Design Guidelines detailed above. However, the assessment of 
the proposed extension at roof level should be taken in light of the existing roof level 

Page 32



addition found at no. 124 Packington Street (ref. 910754), which projects beyond the 
height of the host building, and the context to which the application site relates. 
 

10.32 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would be visible from the public realm, the 
minimal 300mm height increase is not considered to significantly alter the appearance 
of the building nor its relationship with adjoining buildings or the wider conservation 
area character, the proposed dormers would be positioned to the front and rear 
elevation. They would be positioned so that whilst they would not align with the 
windows on the floors below they would be centrally located. This position is 
considered acceptable given the 3 x 2 pattern on the first and second floors, meaning 
they would be set above the spaces between these windows, and would provide a 
degree of symmetry when viewed from either the front or rear elevations. The restricted 
width and height of the dormers, and the use of timber sash windows with the same 
pattern are considered to help visually integrate them with the appearance of the host 
building.  

 
10.33 The proposed fenestration details are considered to be in keeping with those on the 

floors below, and subject to the use of matching materials, and notwithstanding the 
concerns in terms of compliance with the Conservation Area Design Guidelines are 
therefore considered that this element of the proposal is acceptable in design terms 
and accords with the guidance on roof extensions generally. 

 
Rooflights 
 

10.34 Paragraphs 5.162 and 5.163 of the UDG 2017 provide advice in relation to rooflights, 
stating they ‘should be designed with a slender profile and should, ideally, be flush with 
the roof covering to minimise their visual impact’. In this instance, whilst it is 
acknowledged they would not be visible to the roof of the host building, a condition has 
been attached to ensure they are conservation style, i.e. flush with the roofslope, given 
is designation within the conservation area. 
 
Chimney removal  
 

10.35 It is acknowledged that paragraph 5.158 of the UDG states ‘chimney stacks should be 
retained and only raised where they will not disrupt the rhythm of the terrace’. However, 
this chimney projects beyond the existing ridge of the host building and would still 
retain an existing chimney which would be more consistent in height to the terrace.   
 

10.36 Overall, whilst the proposed roof extensions would not strictly accord with the advice 
found within the Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area Design 
Guidelines, given the relatively modest addition, and the public benefit of providing 3 
no. residential units and the enhancements to the reinstatement of the use of the public 
house is considered to preserve the visual appearance and historic character of the 
host building and surrounding Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area, and 
the Grade II Listed Building to the west of the site. It is therefore considered that the 
proposal is acceptable in design terms and compliant with the policies found within 
policies CS8 and CS9 of the Islington Core Strategy (2011) and DM2.1 and DM2.3 of 
Development Management Policies (2013) and guidance found within the Urban 
Design Guide 2017 and Conservation Area Design Guidelines. 
 
Quality of residential accommodation 

10.37 The proposed development would result in the creation of three self-contained 
residential units on upper floors, being the first, second, and third (roof) floor levels. 

Page 33



The proposal would consist of a 2-bedroom unit on the first floor (Flat 1), and 2 x 1 
bedroom units on the second and third floor levels. One of these 1 bedroom units 
would be located entirely at second floor (Flat 2) and one would be split over both 
second and third floor levels (Flat 3).  

10.38 Below is the table (Table 1) of required unit sizes and private outdoor space for new 
residential development: 

 

Flat 
no. 

Unit Size Required 
GIA (Gross 
Internal 
Area) (sqm) 

Total GIA 
(Gross 
Internal 
Area) (sqm) 

Required 
Amenity 
Space 
(sqm)  

Total 
Amenity 
Space 
(sqm)  

1 3bedroom/5
person bed 
space 

86 83 8 9 

2 1bedroom/2
person bed 
space 

50 50 5 14 

3 1bedroom/2
person bed 
space 

50 50 5 0 

Table 1: Showing the required unit sizes and private outdoor space for new residential 
development 

10.39 The proposed three-bedroom residential unit at first floor (Flat 1) would have a gross 
internal area of 83 sqm, which fail below the standards set out in policy DM3.4 of the 
Development Management (2013), being a 5 person bedspace unit. This is based on 
the room marked as a study being changed into a single bedroom. As a result, it would 
be below the required standards by 3 sqm (required 86 sqm). However, this would be a 
minimal amount below and given it is a conversion, it is acceptable in this instance. At 
50 sqm (Flats 2 and 3) the 2 no. one-bedroom/two person bedspace units meet the 
requirements of this policy. However, it should be noted that the first floor unit (Flat 1) 
has an area designated as study.  

10.40 The proposed layout for two of the units (Flats 1 and 3) would have separate 
living/kitchen areas and dining space, with the other (Flat 2) having a combined space 
(living/kitchen/ding). The size of these areas are considered to be of adequate and 
acceptable layout. The first floor flat (Flat 1) at 2.9m would exceed the required (2.6m) 
floor to ceiling heights found within part C of policy DM3.4. It is acknowledged that the 
other two flats (Flats 2 and 3) at 2.5m would fail to achieve this required floor to ceiling 
height. However, given that the application relates to a conversion and that it would 
meet the requirements of the London Plan Housing SPG (2.5m), this restricted height 
is considered acceptable in this instance.  

10.41 In this instance, the two proposed residential units (Flats 1 and 2) would have windows 
to the north, south and west elevations and the other unit (Flat 3) to the north and 
south, meaning that they would all benefit direct sunlight/daylight and be dual aspect 
required by policy.  

10.42 As stated previously as the new residential units would be located above a public 
house it is important that the use of the public house would not detrimentally impact the 
standard of accommodation in terms of noise. An Acoustic Assessment has been 
submitted as part of the application details. This has concluded subject to the use of 
sufficient noise mitigation that the continued use of the host building as a public house 
would not harm the living conditions of future occupiers of the proposed residential 

Page 34



units. The Council’s Acoustic Officer has agreed with this assessment. However, he 
considers that the current vacant situation means that the submitted Acoustic 
Assessment is not a true reflection of the use of the public house. This is given that the 
assessment was carried out when the pub was not in use. As such, whilst he has no 
objections, he has requested a number of conditions in relation to noise be attached to 
any approval. 

10.43 It is considered that the proposal would be compliant with the objectives of policies 
DM3.4, DM3.7 and DM6.1 of the Development Management Policies (2013) subject to 
conditions of consent.  

10.44 As shown within Table 1 above, both Flats 1 and 2 have been provided with private 
outdoor space, being 9 and 14 sqm respectively, whereas Flat 3 has none. As a four 
person dwelling and two person dwelling, the proposed outdoor space for Flats 1 and 2 
is considered acceptable. Whilst Flat 3 has no outdoor space it is considered 
acceptable in this instance, given that it is a one-bedroom unit and that the site is within 
walking distance of an area of open space, being Union Square Gardens. It is 
considered therefore that this provision would be compliant with part C of policy DM3.5.  

Neighbouring Amenity including Sunlight and Daylight 
 
10.45 Part A(x) of Policy DM2.1 requires new development to provide a good level of amenity 

including consideration of noise and the impact of disturbance, hours of operation, 
vibration, pollution, fumes between and within developments, overshadowing, 
overlooking, privacy, direct sunlight and daylight, over-dominance, sense of enclosure 
and outlook. 

 
10.46 In terms of the first floor extension to the rear elevation, given it would be positioned to 

the west half of the host property towards Prebend Street which is set away 3.7m from 
the shared boundary with no. 124 Packington Street, and 5.2m from the nearest 
window its height, at 3.3m, (3.8m including balustrades and parapet walls which are set 
in) above the existing single storey addition, it is not considered to result in a significant 
loss of daylight/sunlight or outlook to neighbouring properties, or a sense of enclosure 
to neighbouring properties. The submitted floor plan drawings demonstrate that the 
proposed rear extension and associated second floor roof terrace, would pass the 
Building Research Establishment (BRE) 45 degree test outlined within BRE Site Layout 
and Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice. This test is used as 
guidance for extensions that are perpendicular to a window in a neighbouring property. 
A centre line is marked on the plan of the neighbouring window that may be affected. A 
45 degree angle is drawn from the outer most part of the extension toward the window.  
  

10.47 The 45 degree angle line demonstrates that the proposed first floor extension, together 
with the balustrades associated with the second floor roof terrace, would pass this test, 
in terms of its amenity impact and potential loss of daylight/sunlight to the nearest 
window at the adjacent no. 124 Packington Street. Whilst this 45 degree angle line 
would cross the proposed first floor roof terrace in plan form, the restricted height of the 
balustrades, at 1.1m which would consist of metal railings which allow light to pass, 
and the set back from the middle of this adjacent window, at 2.8m, is considered to 
ensure that any loss of daylight/sunlight or outlook would not be significant. 
 

10.48 The proposed extensions at roof level are not considered to result in any significant 
loss of daylight/sunlight or outlook to neighbouring properties, given the limited 
projection, of the raise in the existing ridge line and dormer extensions, from the 
existing roofslope and distance from neighbouring properties. 
 

Page 35



10.49 Paragraph 2.14 of the Development Management Policies states ‘to protect privacy for 
residential developments and existing residential properties, there should be a 
minimum distance of 18 metres between windows of habitable rooms. This does not 
apply across the public highway; overlooking across a public highway does not 
constitute an unacceptable loss of privacy’. Therefore, the windows to the north and 
west elevations associated with the proposed residential units on the upper floors are 
considered not to result in any privacy issues as the nearest properties are on the 
opposite side of the public highway. The windows on the south elevation are not 
considered to result in any significant privacy issues given the properties to the south 
along Prebend Street, facing the host property has a blank gable elevation without 
windows. It is considered that there be no loss of privacy to the rear gardens of 
surrounding properties, over and above the existing situation. 
 

10.50 The introduction of roof terraces to the rear of the property, which incorporates the use 
of balustrades in the form of metal railings and planters around the perimeter are 
considered to restrict overlooking to neighbouring properties. In addition, any views of 
the windows of the adjacent property, no. 124, would be restricted due to the limited 
projection of the roof terrace, from the rear elevation of the host building and the 
position of the window. However, a condition has been attached to any approval to 
ensure that further details of the balustrades to the first floor roof terrace are provided 
to ensure they would not result in any significant overlooking issues. 
 

10.51 The potential noise impact to neighbouring properties as a result of the use of these 
roof terraces is not considered to be significant, given their size at 9 sqm (Flat 1) and 
14 sqm (Flat 2), which is considered to restrict the potential for large gatherings using 
this area. 
 

10.52 An air condenser unit is proposed to be located to the courtyard to the rear of the host 
building. The aforementioned noise assessment submitted has assessed the impact of 
this air condenser unit, which is considered to have an acceptable noise impact on 
neighbouring properties subject to conditions. Conditions have been recommended to 
any approval. 
 

10.53 It is acknowledged that the reinstatement of the use of the public house at ground and 
basement floor levels may result in amenity issues to neighbouring properties. 
However, given that the host property benefits from this existing lawful A4 use, and 
does not require planning permission for the change of use of the premises, the 
potential amenity issues associated cannot be considered within this application.  
  

10.54 In summary the proposal would not conflict with the aims of Policy DM2.1 of the 
Islington’s Development Management Policies with regards to the protection of 
neighbouring amenity or with Policies 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan in terms of 
potential harm to residential amenity and is therefore acceptable in this regard.  

 
Accessibility 

10.55 The proposed residential units would be accessed from a separate entrance to the 
public house from Packington Street, which provides access to the upper floors by way 
of a staircase.  
 

10.56 Policy DM2.2 seeks to ensure that developments provide for ease of and versatility in 
use and deliver safe, legible and logical environments. In this instance, the street level 
entrance would not provide level access for wheelchairs. It is also acknowledged that 
the Council’s Access and Inclusive Design Officer notes that as these are new 
dwellings and it is the adopted London Plan Policy that all new homes should be 

Page 36



visitable and adaptable to: facilitate sustainable communities; enable residents to stay 
put for longer; and reduce premature loss of independence, unwanted moves, unsightly 
alterations, and loss of dignity.   To that end it is expected that all new dwellings meet 
the standards set out in M4(2). However, given that this application relates to a 
conversion of the host building rather than a new build, there is some flexibility in terms 
of meeting the standards of the Inclusive Design SPD. In this regard, it is considered 
the lack of compliance would not warrant refusal of the application. 
 
Highways and Transportation 

 
10.57 The application site is located within an area with good (PTAL – 4) public transport 

provision.  Policy CS10 of the Islington Core Strategy 2011 stipulates that no car 
parking provision should be allowed on site and occupiers will have no ability to obtain 
car parking permits, except for parking need to meet the needs of disabled people. As 
the new housing development would be car free it is considered that the proposal 
would not result in increased traffic congestion in the area or parking problems. A 
Unilateral Undertaking requires that there will be no on-street parking permits for future 
occupiers of the residential units. 
 

10.58 The requirements for cycle parking set out in Policy DM8.4 and Appendix 6 of the 
Development Management Policies applies to the creation of new residential units. 
Cycle parking is required to be provided at a rate of one space per every bedroom and 
needs to be secure, covered, conveniently located and step free. The scheme 
proposes 5 Cycle parking spaces, positioned to the existing court yard to the south of 
the host building. This provision is considered to be compliant with the requirements of 
Policy DM8.4 (Walking and cycling) of the Islington Development Management 
Policies.  
 

10.59 It is acknowledged that the host property has been vacant for a number of years, as 
described within the land use section above. However, the ground and basement levels 
benefit from the authorised use as a public house (A4 use). Given that the operational 
areas of the use of the public house would not enlarged in anyway, and there would be 
no intensification of the A4 pub use. It is therefore considered that the that the 
proposed use as a public house would result in any significant issues in terms of the 
surrounding highway network.  
 
Refuse Facilities 
 

10.60 The submitted drawings show the provision of refuse and recycling for both the 
residential units and for the public house in the courtyard to the south of the host 
building. The provision for residential units would be 960 litres, in the form of 480 litres 
(2 x 240 litre bins) for refuse and 480 (2 x 240 litres) for recycling, whereas the 
provision for the public house is 2560 litres (2 x 1280 litres).  
 

10.61 Paragraph 5.2 of the Islington Street Environment Services ‘Recycling and Refuse 
Storage Requirements’ provides advice in relation to acceptable refuse and recycling 
provision for new residential units, and is shown in the table below: 
 

 
Table 2:Recommended refuse and recycling storage provision for new residential 
units. 

Page 37



10.62 In this instance the guidance recommends the provision for the residential units should 
be a total of 740 litres (2 (1 bedroom) x 200 litres and 1 (2 bedroom) x 340 litres) for 
refuse and recycling. This provision would exceed the above requirements. 
 

10.63 No specific guidance is provided in relation to the provision of refuse and recycling for 
public houses, in the ‘Recycling and Refuse Storage Requirements’ document, stating 
that it is dependent on the nature and operation of the premises. However, the 
provision of 2560 litres which is significantly larger than the for the residential units is 
considered to be adequate for the public house. 
 

10.64 Whilst a preference would be that the proposed refuse and recycling provision for the 
residential and public houses would be stored separately, it is considered that this 
would not warrant refusal of the application, given the constraints of the site and limited 
space available for this provision. Therefore, the proposed refuse and recycling 
facilities are considered acceptable. 
 
Sustainability 
 

10.65 Policy DM7.1 provides advice in relation to sustainable design and construction, stating 
‘Development proposals are required to integrate best practice sustainable design 
standards (as set out in the Environmental Design SPD), during design, construction 
and operation of the development’.  
 

10.66 In this instance given the proposal relates to the conversion of the existing building 
rather than a new build, the requirement for financial contribution of carbon off-setting 
is not applicable nor is a condition required in relation to water efficiency standard for 
residential developments (95 litres/person/day). Therefore, on balance the proposal 
would acceptable in terms of complying with the policies in regard to sustainability. 
 
Anti-social behaviour 
 

10.67 Concerns have been raised in relation to anti-social behaviour associated with the use 
of the host building as a public house. As part of this application the Secured by Design 
Officer has been formally consulted. 
 

10.68 The Secured by Design Officer has raised no objections to the scheme, and has 
confirmed that there are no reports of anti-social behaviour from the location or its 
vicinity, apart from one relating to the Budgens supermarket immediately to the north of 
the site. The Officer considered that the redevelopment of the site would benefit the 
site and the residential use of the flats above would prevent the illegitimate use as a 
hostel. They have also considered that it would be for the Council’s Licencing team to 
impose conditions for the safe running of the public house. The use of security glazing 
and doors, including the communal entrance to residential units which should be self-
closing and self-locking, particularly concerning the flat roof of the pub, as it may pose 
a climbing risk. They have advised that the entrances to the public house and 
residential units remain separate, which is shown within this scheme and welcomed. 
 

10.69 Whilst it is acknowledged that the cycle storage would not be located within the building 
but within a separate court yard and securely fixed, it is considered that given the 
restrictions of the site, it would not warrant refusal in this instance. In addition, it is 
considered that future occupiers of the residential units together with the public house 
could be provided access cards to this courtyard.  
 

10.70 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant anti-social 
behaviour to the host building or surrounding area, given the reinstatement of the 

Page 38



public house at ground and basement levels and the introduction of residential units on 
the upper floors which would bring the host building back into use and provide the 
surrounding area with an enhanced degree of natural surveillance. 
 
Affordable Housing 

 
10.71 In accordance with the Affordable Housing Small Sites Contributions SPD the Council 

requires an agreement to pay a contribution towards the costs of providing affordable 
housing within the Borough. Islington's Core Strategy policy CS12 Part G, which states 
that schemes below a threshold of 10 residential units (gross) will be required to 
provide a financial contribution towards affordable housing provision elsewhere in the 
borough. 
 

10.72 Paragraph 3.0.5 of the SPD states ‘in line with the evidence base, the council will 
expect developers to be able to pay a commuted sum of £50,000 per unit for sites 
delivering fewer than 10 residential units in the north and middle parts of the borough, 
and £60,000 for sites south of Pentonville Road/City Road’. The proposal would 
therefore be liable for the payment of £150,000. 

 
10.73 In this instance, the applicant has confirmed agreement to pay the full payment for the 

three residential units. In the event that the application was to be approved the 
payment would be secured by way of a Unilateral undertaking and therefore this 
payment/agreement would directly address one of the reasons for refusal of the 
previous application. 

 
Other Matters 

 
10.74 The consultation process resulted in concerns in relation to increased vermin in the 

surrounding area associated with the use of the host property as public house. It is 
considered that the proposed storage of refuse within dedicated storage containers is 
likely to improve the situation, as well as bringing the host building into meaningful use. 
 

11.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 

Summary 
 
11.1 The proposed change of use of the upper floors of the public house to self-contained 

residential units is considered acceptable, in terms of its impact in land use terms on 
the surrounding area and the retained public house. Given the proposal would not 
result in any operational floorspace of the public house, and would result in the creation 
of new residential units within a residential area. Whilst there are concerns in relation to 
the proposed roof extension, the proposed first floor extension to the rear elevation is 
considered to be compliant with the design guidance found within both the Urban 
Design Guide 2017 and Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area Design 
Guidelines. It is considered that given the public benefit of providing 3 no. residential 
units the statutory duties under Section 66 (1) and Section 72 (1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in terms of preserving the visual 
appearance and historic character of the host building and wider Conservation Area 
and the nearby Grade II Listed Building have been met and are acceptable in design 
terms. Also these extensions are considered not to result in any significant amenity 
issues in terms of loss of daylight/sunlight, outlook, privacy or a sense of enclosure to 
neighbouring properties, due to their scale, position and setbacks from neighbouring 
properties. 
 

Page 39



11.2 The 3 no. proposed residential units are considered to provide a good standard of 
accommodation, with dual aspect and access to sunlight/daylight and would be subject 
to noise mitigation measures secured by condition. 

 
11.3 The proposal is considered compliant with the requirements of financial contributions in 

relation to small sites affordable housing, and being a car-free, which would be secured 
by way of a Unilateral Undertaking. 
 

11.4 The development is considered to be compliant with the policies in the London Plan, 
Islington Core Strategy, Islington Development Management Policies and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and as such is recommended for approval. 

 
Conclusion 

 
11.6 It is recommended that planning permission be approved for the reasons set out in 

Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATION. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Page 40



RECOMMENDATION A 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the prior completion of a Planning Obligation 
made under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 between the Council and 
all persons with an interest in the land (including mortgagees) in order to secure the following 
planning obligations to the satisfaction of the Head of Law and Public Services and the Service 
Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, in their 
absence, the Deputy Head of Service: 

 
The Heads of Terms are: 

 

- £150,000 contribution towards the provision of off-site affordable housing within the 
Borough 

 
- Car-free development for the 3no. new residential units 
 
All payments are due on practical completion of the development and are to be index-linked 
from the date of committee. Index linking is calculated in accordance with the Retail Price Index.  
 
RECOMMENDATION B 
 
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 
List of Conditions: 
 

1 Commencement  

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(Chapter 5). 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  
 
Environmental Noise Survey and NPPF Assessment Report (Author: Hann Tucker 
Associates 18/8/2015), 22166/NPPF1, Supporting Statement, Design and Access 
Statement Rev.A (Dated 7/11/2016), PP01/Rev.A, PP02/Rev.A, PP03/Rev.A, 
PP04/Rev.A, PP05/Rev.A, PP06/Rev.A, PP07/Rev.A, PP08/Rev.A, PP09/Rev.B,  
EX00, EX01, EX02, EX03, EX04, EX05, EX08, EX06, EX07, EX09. 
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning. 
 

3 Materials (Details) 

 CONDITION:  Details and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work 
commencing on site. The details and samples shall include: 
 
 

Page 41



a) solid brickwork (including brick panels and mortar courses)  
b) render (including colour, texture and method of application); 
c) window treatment (including sections and reveals); 
d) roofing materials; 
e) any other materials to be used. 
 
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so 
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the 
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.  

4 Cycle Parking Provision Compliance 

 CONDITION: Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted at 
least four secure bicycle storage spaces shall be provided within the site as shown on 
Drawing No. PP02/Rev.A. These spaces shall be sheltered and secure and used 
solely for the benefit of the occupants of the development and their visitors and for no 
other purpose and shall be permanently retained as such thereafter into perpetuity. 
 
REASON: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available and easily accessible on site 
and promote sustainable modes of transport. 
 

5 Refuse and Recycling Provided (Compliance) 

 CONDITION: The dedicated refuse / recycling enclosure(s) shown on drawing no. 
PP02/Rev.A shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter into perpetuity. 
 
REASON:  To secure the necessary physical waste enclosures to support the 
development and to ensure that responsible waste management practices are 
adhered to. 
 

6 Sound Insulation 

 CONDITION: Full particulars and details of a scheme for sound insulation between 
residential floors of the building and the public house shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works 
commencing on site. 
 
The sound insulation and noise control measures shall be carried out strictly in 
accordance with the details so approved, shall be implemented prior to the first 
occupation of the public house or residential units, shall be maintained as such 
thereafter and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
REASON: For the protection of neighbouring residential amenity. 
 

7 Verification Report 

 CONDITION: Following completion of the measures identified in condition 6, and prior 
to the first occupation of the residential units, a verification report, carried out by an 
appropriately experienced and competent person, that demonstrates the effectiveness 
of the sound insulation and noise mitigation measures carried out, must be produced 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  The report 
must be approved before occupation of the residential units. 
 
REASON: For the protection of neighbouring residential amenity. 

Page 42



7 Plant equipment 

 CONDITION: The design and installation of new items of fixed plant shall be such that 
when operating the cumulative noise level LAeq Tr arising from the proposed plant, 
measured or predicted at 1m from the facade of the nearest noise sensitive premises, 
shall be a rating level of at least 5dB(A) below the background noise level 
LAF90 Tbg.  The measurement and/or prediction of the noise should be carried out in 
accordance with the methodology contained within BS 4142: 2014 
 
REASON: For the protection of neighbouring residential amenity. 
 

8 Roof terrace 

 CONDITION: Prior to the first occupation of the hereby approved development, full 
details of the balustrades and screening methods to prevent overlooking to the 
adjoining neighbouring properties for the first floor roof terrace shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved details shall be 
implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the residential units hereby approved 
and shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON: For the protection of neighbouring residential amenity. 
 

 
List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive Statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has produced 
policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
Whilst no pre-application was submitted the LPA and the applicant have worked 
positively and proactively in a collaborative manner through the application stages to 
deliver an acceptable development in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
The LPA delivered the decision in a timely manner in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF. 
 

2 Unilateral undertaking 

 You are advised that this permission has been granted subject to a legal agreement 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

3 Community infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 CIL Informative:  Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is 
liable to pay the London Borough of Islington Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and 
the Mayor of London's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). These charges will be 
calculated in accordance with the London Borough of Islington CIL Charging Schedule 
2014 and the Mayor of London's CIL Charging Schedule 2012. One of the 
development parties must now assume liability to pay CIL by submitting an 
Assumption of Liability Notice to the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk. The Council will 
then issue a Liability Notice setting out the amount of CIL payable on commencement 
of the development.   
Further information and all CIL forms are available on the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil and the 
Islington Council website at www.islington.gov.uk/cilinfo. Guidance on the Community 

Page 43



Infrastructure Levy can be found on the National Planning Practice Guidance website 
at http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-
infrastructure-levy/.  

Page 44

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy/


APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) seek to 
secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social 
progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG are material considerations and 
have been taken into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
and Development Management Policies 2013.  The following policies of the Development Plan 
are considered relevant to this application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  

 
Policy 3.4 Increasing housing supply 
Policy 3.5 Quality and design of housing developments 
Policy 3.6 Children and young people’s play and informal recreation facilities 
Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction 
Policy 6.9 Cycling 
Policy 6.10 Walking 
Policy 7.3 Designing out crime 
Policy 7.4 Local Character 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 
Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology 
Policy 8.2 Planning obligations 
 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 
Strategic Policies 
 
Policy CS 8 – Enhancing Islington’s character 
Policy CS 9 - Protecting and enhancing Islington’s built and 
historic environment 
Policy CS 10 – Sustainable Design 
Policy CS12 – Meeting the housing challenge 
 
C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

- Policy DM2.1 – Design 
- Policy DM2.2 – Inclusive Design 
- Policy DM2.3 – Heritage 
- Policy DM3.1 – Housing mix 
- Policy DM3.4 – Housing standards 
- Policy DM3.5 – Private outdoor space 
- Policy DM3.7 – Noise and vibration (residential uses) 
- Policy DM4.10 – Public Houses 
- Policy DM6.1 – Healthy Developments 
- Policy DM7.1 - Sustainable design and construction 
- Policy DM7.2 - Energy efficiency and carbon reduction in minor schemes 

Page 45



- Policy DM7.4 – Sustainable Design Standards 
- Policy DM8.4 - Walking and cycling 
- Policy DM8.5 - Vehicle parking 
 

3.     Designations 
 

Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row Conservation Area 
Article 4 Direction – office to residential 
Article 4 Direction – conservation 
Local Cycle routes 
Major Cycle routes 
 

4.     SPD/SPGS 
 

Urban Design Guidelines 2017 
Conservation Area Design Guidelines 
Environmental Design SPD 
Inclusive Design SPD  
Housing SPG 
Affordable Housing SPD 
Recycling and Refuse Storage Requirements – Street Environment Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



APPENDIX 3:    RELEVANT APPEAL DECISION 
 
Below is the appeal decision for no. 57 St John Street for Planning Permission and Listed 
Building (refs. P2016/4585/FUL and P2016/4661/LBC) for the ‘refurbishment and internal 
reconfiguration of existing public house (A4) and change of use and subdivision of the upper 
floors (first, second, third and fourth) into four self-contained flats, with associated creation of 
separate access, formation of a roof terrace to the fourth floor and at roof level and other 
associated works. Appeal for non-determination Allowed on 14/09/2017 (refs. 
APP/V5570/W/17/3169148 and APP/V5570/W/17/3169153): 
 

 

Page 47



 

Page 48



 

Page 49



 

Page 50



 

Page 51



 

Page 52



 

Page 53



 

Page 54



 

Page 55



 
 
 

Page 56



 
 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Islington SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

              P2015/5085/FUL 

 

ANN S
TREET

U
N
IO

N
 S

Q
U
A
R
E

PREBEND S
TREET

R
E
C
TO

R
 S

TR
E
E
T

C
A
N
O

N
 S

TR
E
E
T

22.7m

R
H
EID

O
L 

TER
R
AC

E

P
A
C
K
IN

G
TO

N
 S

Q
U
A
R
E

ST P
AUL S

TREET

W
ILLIA

M
 C

O
N
G

R
E
V
E
 M

E
W

S

22.8m

TCBPACKINGTON STREET

23.6m

22.6m

25.8m

RHEID
O

L M
EW

S

23.4m

6 to 10

21

6

34

1

80

2

1

51

11

26

30

98a
98

32

7

82

6

24

11

5

1

5

26

S
t 
Ja

m
e
s 

C
h
u
rc

h

20

1 to 6

1
 to

 2
6

H
ol

de
n 

H
ou

se

1 
to

 1
1

Surgery

Price

1
5
 t
o
 2

3

House
Strang House

1 to 40

23

Turnbull House

25

21

22

32

32

21

31

33

18
 to

 2
0

2 to 4

Centre

The Arc

51

1 to 45

1

7

12

10 1 to 36

1 to 6

14

30

47 to 49PH

2

2a

29

31

12
5

12
1

20

22

30

33

35

AdaCourt

1 to 12

S
t J

am
es

 H
al

l41

40

39

27 to 33

11

6

2 
to

 4

33 to 34

1a

21

34
 to

 4
1

22

1

2a

2

12 to 15

18

20

17

19

23

16

School

City of London

Academy

Richard

Cloudesley

22

18

10
9

24

7

20

51

11

15 12 to

3 
to

 7

29

26

El Sub

Sta

X

X

XXX
XXX

XX

XXX

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
PLANNING   SUB-COMMITTEE  AGENDA ITEM:B2 

Date: 1st February 2018 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application numbers P2017/4729/FUL 

Application types Full Planning  

Ward St Peters  

Listed building n/a 

Conservation area Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area  

Development Plan Context Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area  

Locally Listed Building  

Cycle Routes (Major) 

Article 4 Direction A1-A2 

Article 4 Direction B1(c) to C3 

Licensing Implications None 

Site Address 29 Allingham Street, London, N1 8NX 

Proposals Erection of mansard roof extension with front roof terrace 
plus erection of rear lower ground floor infill extension and 
terrace at upper ground floor level. Installation of door to 
front lower ground floor level and rain water pipe to front 
elevation.   

 

Case Officer Joe Aggar 

Applicant c/o Agent 

Agent Open Architecture Ltd 

 
 
1  RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions 
set out in Appendix 1;  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration  
 
 
 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item B2



2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 62



3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 
 
 
 

 
 

 Image 1 - Aerial view of the site and surroundings 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 Image 2 - View of rear elevation  

Page 63



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                      Image 3 – View looking west of front elevations (1-29 Allingham Street) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                  Image 4 – View of front elevation of 29 Allingham Street   

 
 

 
 
 

Page 64



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
                  Image 5 – View of rear elevation (29 Allingham Street) 

 
 
 
 
         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
             Image 6 – View of rear elevation (29 Allingham Street) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 
4 SUMMARY 
 
4.1 The application site forms a mid-terraced, two storey dwelling with semi-basement located 

on the north side of Allingham Street. The property is Locally Listed Grade B and is located 
within the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area.  
 

4.2 The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey rear infill 
extension at lower ground with a roof terrace above and the erection of a roof extension 
with the provision of a roof terrace to front elevation. The proposal also compromises the 
installation of a door, to the front lower ground floor front elevation and erection of rain 
water pipe to the front elevation.  
 

4.3 The application is referred to committee as the applicant is a councillor.  
 

4.4 The design, layout scale and massing of the proposed development is considered 
acceptable. The mansard extension would generally conform with the established character 
along with this section of Allingham Street, whilst the lower ground floor position of the rear 
extension and terrace ensure it would appear subordinate to the main rear elevation and 
not lead to visual clutter. The proposed extensions and alterations would not detract from 
the character and appearance of the locally listed building or the conservation area. 

 
4.5 The proposal is not considered to prejudice the residential amenity of neighbouring 

properties insofar of loss of light, overlooking, outlook or increased sense of enclosure and 
would not be contrary to policy DM2.1 of the Islington Development Management Policies 
June, 2013. 
 

 
4.1 The proposal is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with the Development Plan 

policies and planning permission is recommended for approval subject to conditions.        
 
5 SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 

5.1 The application site is a two storey, with semi basement, mid terrace dwelling. It is Locally 
Listed Grade B, however it is not statutorily listed. The site is within the Duncan 
Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area. The surrounding area is predominantly 
residential in character. 

 
5.2 The site abuts no. 27 Allingham Street to the west and no. 31 Allingham Street to the 

east. Both properties are two storey dwelling houses with existing mansard roof 
extensions. To the rear of the site abut a two storey mews known as Rheidol Mews.  

 
6 PROPOSAL (in Detail) 
 
6.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of a rear lower ground floor level single 

storey extension. The new addition would infill the narrow recess of this ‘L’ shaped building. 
The proposal would set back approximately 1m from the rear building line of the existing 
closet wing. The addition would extend approximately 3.3m for the original rear elevation 
and would have a flat roof (2.5m in height). Above the lower ground floor addition, a terrace 
and balustrade is also proposed. The balustrade would have a steel, glass finish. The infill 
extension would be served by bi-folding doors (aluminium finish), floor to ceiling height and 
span the width of the extension.  

 
6.2 At roof level a mansard roof extension is proposed. To the front this would be sloped and 

also include a small roof terrace. To the rear the roof addition has been designed to reflect 
a traditional mansard within two dormer windows (timber sash double glazed). 
 

Page 66



To the front elevation at lower ground floor it is proposed to lower the cill of the existing 
window and insert a set of double doors and also install a drain pipe and hopper running 
down the front elevation.  

 

7 RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  
 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 27 & 29, Allingham Street, planning application re: P090132 for the ‘Erection of 2 mansard 

roof extensions at 27 & 29 Allingham Street’ was APPROVED on the 29/04/2009.  
 

7.2 25, Allingham Street, planning application re: P110946 for the ‘Erection of a mansard roof 
extension to provide additional living accommodation to property.  Roof extension will 
incorporate 3 velux rooflights within its front elevation and 2 dormer windows within its rear 
elevation’ was APPROVED on the 01/07/2011.   
  

7.3 31, Allingham Street, planning application re: P060313 for the ‘Erection of a mansard roof 
extension with terrace area to front’ was APPROVED on the 02/01/2007.   
 

7.4 9, Allingham Street, planning application re: P011790 for the ‘Erection of a roof extension’ 
was APPROVED on the 04/02/2002.   
 
ENFORCEMENT: 
 

7.5 None.  
 

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 
7.1 None 

 
8 CONSULTATION 
 

Public Consultation 
 
8.1 Letters were sent to occupants of 15 adjoining and nearby properties at Allingham Street, 

and Rheidol Mews. 
 

8.2 A site notice and press advert was also displayed. Consultation expired on the 4th January 
2018.  It is the Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up until the 
date of a decision.  
 

8.3 At the time of writing this report no responses have been received from the public with 
regard to the application.  
 
External Consultees 

 
8.4 None 

 
Internal Consultees  

 
8.4 Design and Conservation Officer: Roof level- The principle of a mansard roof addition is 

accepted, given that the majority of adjoining properties have a similar addition. A full 
mansard (with traditional 70-degree slope) is proposed at the rear and the traditional valley 
roof parapet will be retained as an historic reference.  At the front the roof addition will 
remain concealed in views from street level given a substantial setback from the front 
parapet, which will align with the front of the existing chimney stack. A small section of the 
addition will project forward but the gradient of the slope will follow that of the adjoining 
properties (numbers 27 and 31), ensuring that it will not be discernible from street level.  

Page 67



  
The double glazed dormer sash windows at the roof are accepted, subject to their depth 
being no more than 14mm and a condition should be attached to any permission requesting 
this. Infill addition at rear lower ground level -The single-storey infill addition at rear lower 
ground level is of an appropriate design and would be subservient to the main building. The 
addition will be concealed visually by an existing masonry boundary wall and would cause 
no harm.  

 
9 RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This report 
considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 

 
National Guidance 

  
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way 

that effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future 
generations. The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part 
of the assessment of these proposals.  

 
9.2 Since March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance for England has been published online. 

Development Plan   
 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 

2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site 
Allocations 2013.  The policies of the Development Plan considered relevant to this 
application are listed at Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
Designations 

 
9.3 The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2016, Islington Core 

Strategy 2011 and Development Management Policies 2013. 
 

- Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area  

- Locally Listed Building  
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 
 
9.4 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10 ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Design, appearance and impacts on the Conservation Area 

 Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents.  
 

Design and Conservation  
 
10.6 The application site comprises No. 29 Allingham Street, which is a mid-terrace property, 

and a locally listed building situated within the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row 
Conservation Area. Whilst the locally listed status affords no statutory protection, it reflects 
the significance of the building to the conservation area and is a non-designated heritage 
asset.  
 

10.7 The Duncan Terrace / Colebrooke Row Conservation Area is predominantly residential and 
largely made up of late Georgian and early Victorian terraces. Overall the area has a 

Page 68



remarkable architectural consistency, homogeneity and historic interest, which gives the 
area its special character and appearance and demands sensitive policies for preservation 
and enhancement. 

 
10.8 Policy CS9 of Islington’s Core Strategy (CS), 2011 and Policies DM2.1 and DM2.3 of the 

Development Management Policies (2013) accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) in seeking to sustain and enhance the significance of heritage assets, 
which include Conservation Areas (CA), through development which makes a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness. Taken together, they seek to ensure that 
heritage assets are conserved and enhanced through development which, amongst other 
things, respects and responds positively to existing buildings, the streetscape and the wider 
context, including local architecture and character, surrounding heritage assets, and locally 
distinctive patterns of development. 
 

10.9 The policies carry forward the statutory requirement Within (Section 72 (1) of the of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990) that special consideration be 
given to preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation Areas and 
the advice in the National Planning Policy Framework (‘the Framework’) as to the treatment 
of development that affects heritage assets.  
 

10.10 The Council has supplemented these national and local Development Plan policies by 
adopting special policies that will operate within the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row 
Conservation Area (CADG).  
 
Mansard Roof Extension 
 

10.11 For roof extensions, the CADG refers to individual properties where special roof design 
policies will be applied. It indicates that roof extensions may be permitted on properties 
listed in Schedule 3.2. The application property is not one of these. However, it goes on to 
say no roof extensions, rooflights or associated party wall alterations, will be permitted 
which are visible from the street or public area. This non-statutory guidance also recognises 
the roofline of a street, particularly on terraces, is a major component of its character. 
 

10.12 The vast majority of properties in this area have hidden valley roofs behind front parapets. 
The construction of roof extensions which are not in keeping with the terrace can be 
damaging to its architectural unity, and have a deleterious effect upon the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. 
 

10.13 In conservation areas the Islington Urban Design Guide (UDG) advises where it is 
important to maintain the unbroken roofline on the street frontage it may be acceptable to 
have a roof extension on the rear roofline. In these cases, it will be important that any 
alterations to the roof will be invisible from the public realm so as to retain the unbroken 
front roofline as viewed from street level.  
 

10.14 The properties within Allingham Street have a front parapet wall which conceal the roofs. 
Original ‘V’ shaped roofs would have been characteristic of the area. Overtime there have 
been a number of roof additions to the terrace (1-31 Allingham Street) including both 
properties adjoining the application site. Although the taller chimney stacks of the properties 
are visible from Allingham Street, the main roof of the dwellings is screened from view by 
the parapet and none of these roof additions are visible from street level as demonstrated 
by Image 4 in Section 3 of this report.  
 

10.15 Of the 16 properties within the terrace, 8 have existing roof additions. The proposal would 
therefore not form part of an unbroken roofline .These existing roof extensions have been 
designed so as not be visible from street level. At roof level, to the rear, the additions exhibit 
a traditional mansard design.  
 

Page 69



10.16 The proposed roof addition would have a set back design, behind the front parapet that 
runs along the row of houses and be angled away from the front elevation, as such it is 
considered the roof extension would not be seen from Allingham Street. The roof addition 
would be visible from the upper floors of houses opposite and from the houses behind in 
Rheidol Mews.   
 

10.17 In this context there have been recent decisions regarding roof additions within the terrace. 
These are considered to have a neutral impact on the character and appearance of the 
street-scene and conservation area. In this context and with a design to ensure that the 
mansards would not be visible from street level the development would not detract from the 
street-scene along Allingham Street.  
 

10.18 To the rear, the roof addition would be set in marginally to maintain the distinctive V-profile 
and would be designed in a mansard style, thereby following the guidance set out in para 
5.517 of the Urban Design Guide (2017). As such, it is considered appropriate in terms of 
design and appearance and would not unacceptably detract from the architectural quality of 
the host property and terrace.  
 
Lower Ground Floor Extension 
 

10.19 In relation to rear additions, the CADG advises full width rear extensions higher than one 
storey or half width rear extensions higher than two storeys, will not normally be permitted 
in this conservation area, unless it can be shown that no harm will be caused to the 
character of the area. 
 

10.20 Section 5.134 of the Islington Urban Design Guide (UDG) advises that rear extensions must 
be subordinate to the original building; extensions should be no higher than one full storey 
below eaves to ensure they are sufficiently subordinate to the main building. For this reason 
and also in order to respect the rhythm of the terrace, full width rear extensions higher than 
one storey, or half width rear extensions higher than two storeys, will normally be resisted, 
unless it can be shown that no harm will be caused to the character of the building and the 
wider area.  
 

10.21 Overall, in considering applications for extensions and refurbishment generally, the CADG 
advises the Council will normally require the use of traditional materials. 
 

10.22 At the rear at upper ground floor level there is an existing wooden terrace with steps down 
to the garden. The proposal to the rear at lower ground level would involve minor 
excavation of the garden levels (approximately 0.3m) and the erection of a rectangular infill 
extension with sliding folding doors to the rear. Above this extension a terrace area is 
proposed, accessed from the upper ground floor rear set of double doors. The addition 
would extend 3.3m into the rear garden and be approximately 2.5m in height. It would 
project 1m less than the existing rear outrigger adjacent to no. 27 Allingham Street. It would 
project 1m less than the rear outrigger adjacent to no. 27 Allingham Street 
 

10.23 The additional mass, height, scale, depth and proportions of the proposed rear extension 
and terrace are considered to remain subordinate to, and preserve the scale and integrity of 
the original building, being modest in depth and height. Consideration has been given to the 
extent of the proposed increase to the footprint of the dwelling and the impact on the 
character of the modest rear garden. The proposed extension is considered to balance the 
increase in built form with retaining sufficient private outdoor amenity space.  
 

10.24 The proposed development to the rear would go unseen from the public realm at lower 
ground floor level, and because of the secluded and well screened nature of the application 
site rear garden, it would go un-noticed by the residents of most dwellings in close 
proximity. In view of the secluded position at lower ground, the extension and terrace would 
have no discernible effect on the perceived visual qualities of the Conservation Area; at 
worse they would have a neutral effect, thus preserving its character. 

Page 70



 
Front Elevation 
 

10.25 The front elevation of properties within the terrace have original front cast iron railings and 
stucco rusticated ground floor and stock brick upper storeys. The properties show high 
degrees of continuity retained within the front elevation appearance of each terrace design 
type. Within the terrace there are four other properties which have drain pipes to the front 
elevation. These are black and slender in appearance. Normally such features would be 
resisted, however based on the presence of other examples within the context of the 
terrace and their discreet and modest appearance, it is considered the addition of a drain 
pipe and hopper would not appear as a jarring or incongruous feature of the terrace or 
streetscene generally. 
 

10.26 The lowering of the window cill at lower ground floor to facilitate the introduction of a door 
would only be noticeable in short views and it is considered that the resulting alteration 
would not look prominent on the front elevation not disrupt the windows/fenestration 
hierarchy unacceptably.  
 

10.27 Section 72 (1) of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires the Local Authority to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving the 
character and appearance of Conservation Areas within their area. It is considered that the 
proposal would be acceptable in design terms and would preserve the visual appearance 
and historic character of the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Conservation Area bearing in 
mind the surrounding context and the visual appearance of the existing buildings on site. It 
would preserve the character and appearance of the host building and the wider 
conservation area in accordance with Policies DM2.1 and DM2.3 of Islington’s 
Development Management Policies (2013) policy CS9 of Islington’s Core Strategy 2011 as 
well as guidance in the Council’s Urban Design Guide Supplementary Panning Document 
2017 (SPD) and Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area Guidelines. 
Collectively these seek to ensure that heritage assets are conserved and enhanced in a 
manner appropriate to their significance and that development respects and responds 
positively to existing buildings, the streetscape and the wider context. 

 
Neighbouring Amenity 

 
10.28 The council’s planning policies seek to ensure that new development does not harm the 

amenity of adjacent residents, either from loss of daylight, sunlight, privacy and overlooking, 
perceived sense of enclosure or noise. 
 

10.29 London Plan Policy 7.6 requires buildings and structures not to cause unacceptable harm to 
the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation 
to privacy and overshadowing, in particular. DMP Policy 2.1 requires development to 
provide a good level of amenity including consideration of overshadowing, overlooking, 
privacy, sunlight and daylight, over-dominance, sense of enclosure and outlook. One of the 
core principles is to always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

10.30 The rear extension would measure approximately 3.3m in depth and be 2.5m in height. It 
would infill the narrow recess between the existing boundary wall with no.31 Allingham 
Street (which would remain in place) and the existing partial width lower ground floor 
structure on site. The addition would be contemporary in appearance. Based on the 
extension being located at lower ground floor and enclosed between existing built form, the 
rear addition is considered to have no material impact on the adjoining neighbours in terms 
of loss of light sense of enclosure or loss of outlook to the adjoining properties at nos. 27 
and 31 Allingham Street not those properties to the rear within Rheidol Mews.    
 

10.31 The property has an existing wooden terrace which projects approximately 1.5m from the 
original rear elevation with steps down to the garden level. The terrace appears to have 

Page 71



been in place for a considerable amount of time, as such there is an already degree of 
existing overlooking, most notably to no. 31 Allingham Street.  
 

10.32 The proposal would result in a deeper terrace of a similar height to the existing, but 1.5m 
deeper than at present. However, based on the existing arrangement, the proposed terrace 
is not considered to give rise to overlooking which would be materially worse than the 
present situation. A boxed rooflight would extend the depth of the extension thereby setting 
in the terrace from the boundary, mitigating overlooking to the rear elevation and garden of 
no. 31 Allingham Street.  

 
10.33 There is a roof terrace proposed to the front elevation, however para 2.14 of the 

Development Management Polices explain, to protect privacy for residential developments 
and existing residential properties, there should be a minimum distance of 18 metres 
between windows of habitable rooms. This does not apply across the public highway; 
overlooking across a public highway does not constitute an unacceptable loss of privacy. 
As such it is considered there would be no undue loss of privacy to those occupiers located 
on the south side of Allingham Street.  
 

10.34 The proposed roof addition would be full width and rise above the existing V-shaped roof 
profile. The nearest residential properties to the north are within a residential mews at 
Rheidol Mews. The elevation does not contain habitable windows to these properties. In 
any event any overlooking would not be considered worse than that exists presently by 
those windows located on the rear elevation. Based on the garden being north facing it is 
considered there would be no adverse loss of sunlight or overshadowing to the rear 
gardens. The proposed addition in a relatively constrained setting is not considered to 
adversely impact in terms of loss of light, or cause an increase sense of enclosure or loss of 
outlook.   

 
10.35 In summary the overall impact of the proposals is not considered to result in an 

unacceptably harmful impact on the adjoining and adjacent properties in terms of loss 
of outlook, daylight, sunlight, or increase in sense of enclosure or overlooking. 
Therefore, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy 
DM2.1 of the Islington Development Management Policies.  

 
11 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION  
 

Summary 
 

10.36 The impact of the proposed mansard roof extension, lower ground floor rear extension 
and roof terrace above and French doors to replace a window on the lower ground floor 
front elevation are considered to have an acceptable impact. This includes the 
proposed pipework on the character and appearance of the host locally listed building 
and surrounding conservation area. The impact on the amenities of the adjoining and 
surrounding properties is considered to be acceptable. 
 

10.37 As such, the proposed development is considered to accord with the policies in the 
London Plan, Islington Core Strategy, Development Management Policies and the 
National Planning Policy Framework and as such is recommended for an approval 
subject to appropriate conditions. 
 

 Conclusion 
 
11.1 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out in 

Appendix 1 – Recommendations.  
 

 
 

Page 72



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
RECOMMENDATION A 

 

That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 

List of Conditions: 
   

1 Commencement  

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 5). 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans:  
 
MK-01-99; MK-01-01; Mk-01-02; MK-01-03; MK-01-04; MK-01-05; MK-01-06; 
MK-01-07; MK-01-10; MK-01-11; MK-01-12; MK-01-13; MK-01-16; HL-03-14/B; 
MK-01-14; MK-01-17; MK-01-15.  
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1) (a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 
as amended and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and 
in the interest of proper planning. 
 

3 Materials 

 CONDITION: The development shall be constructed in accordance with the 
schedule of materials noted on the plans. The development shall be carried out 
strictly in accordance with the details so approved and shall be maintained as 
such thereafter.  
 
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure 
that the resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high 
standard.  

 
 

List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has 
produced policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the 
Council's website. A pre-application advice service is also offered and 
encouraged. Whilst no pre-application discussions were entered into, the policy 
advice and guidance available on the website was followed by the applicant. 
The applicant therefore worked in a proactive manner taking into consideration 
the policies and guidance available to them, and therefore the LPA delivered a 
positive decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF.  
 

Page 73



 
 
 

Page 74



APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National and Regional Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that 
effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. 
The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment 
of these proposals.   
 

 NPPF - Policy 12 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 

 Planning Practice Guide (2014) 
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.  
The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  
 
Policy 7.4 Local character  
Policy 7.6 Architecture  
Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology  
 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s Character) 
Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing 
Islington’s Built and Historic Environment) 
 

 
 
 

C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 
Design and Heritage  
DM2.1 Design  
DM2.3 Heritage  

 

 
3. Designations 
 
The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013 and Site Allocations 2013:  
 
Islington Local Plan 
 
Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area 
Locally Listed Grade B 
 
4. Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 
 
The following SPGs and/or SPDs are relevant: 
 
Islington Local Plan  

Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area 
Guidelines 2002  
Urban Design Guide 2017  
Environmental Design SPD 2012 

 

Page 75



 

Page 76



Islington SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

      P2017/4729/FUL 

 

R
H
EID

O
L 

TER
R
AC

E

P
A
C
K
IN

G
TO

N
 S

Q
U
A
R
E

ST P
AUL S

TREET

W
ILLIA

M
 C

O
N
G

R
E
V
E
 M

E
W

S

22.8m

PROVENCE S
TREET

S
T
 P

E
T
E
R

'S
 S

T
R

E
E
T

23.2m

D
A
M

E
 S

TR
E
E
T

P
lay A

rea

FROME S
TREET

ALLIN
GHAM S

TREET

CHANTRY STREET

St P
eter's

MewsStre
et

BURGH STREET

RHEID
O

L M
EW

S

24.2m

ST PETER'S

23.7m

S
T
R
E
E
T

23.4m

LB

98a

and Youth Project

50

55

Waterside Play

El

Sub

Sta

91 to 98

75 to
 90

C
luse C

ourt

137 to 156

99
 to

 1
36

Cluse Court

77

29 to 361 to
 28

83

1

3

13

23

20

62

19

21

22

Danbury

48

46

56

60

Court

32

35 to
 37

34
 to

 3
6

21

31

33

2 to 4

43

33

Centre

The Arc

1 to 45

30

47 to 49PH

2

2a

29

31

12
5

12
1

20

22

30

22

33

35

27 to 33

11

6

2 
to

 4

33 to 34

1a

21

34
 to

 4
1

22

1

2a

2

12 to 15

18

20

17

19

23

14

16

A
llingham

 M
ew

s

11

69

1

2

11

3

School

Richard

Cloudesley

22

18

10
9

24

7

20

51

11

15 12 to

3 
to

 7

29

26

El Sub

Sta

17

67

40

61

30

8 
to

 1
0

65

7

28

28

49

16

47

43

40

44

PH

59

42

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE A AGENDA ITEM : B3  

Date: 01 February 2018 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application number P2017/3097/FUL  

Application type Full Planning Application 

Ward St. Peters 

Listed building Not Listed (Adjoins Grade II listed properties at 7-11 Remington 
Street) 

Conservation Area Duncan Terrace/Colebrook Row 

Development Plan Article 4(2) Conservation Area 
Within 100m of TLRN Road 
Article 4 Direction A1-A2 (Rest of Borough) 

Licensing Implications None  

Site Address 7 Oakley Crescent, London, EC1V 1LQ 

Proposal Retrospective application for the retention of and alterations to 
the existing black chimney on the roof. 

 

Case Officer Emily Benedek 

Applicant Anthony Rawcliffe 

Agent N/A 

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission – subject to the conditions set 
out in Appendix 1. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 
 

Page 79

Agenda Item B3



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black)) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 80



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 
 

3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 

 

Image 1: Aerial View of the Application Site 

 

Application Site 

Page 81



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 

Image 2: Photograph of the front of the Site 

                                       

Image 3: Photograph of the front of the Site showing the existing chimney to be modified 

Page 82



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 

Image 4: Photograph of the site from the south side of City Road 

 

Image 5: Photograph of the chimney from the roof terrace Page 83



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 

      

Image 6: Photograph of the wood burner stove  

 

4.       Summary 
 

4.1    Retrospective planning permission is sought for the retention of, with alterations to the existing 
black metal chimney on the roof, which is used in connection with a wood burner stove at first 
floor level.  The key considerations in determining the application relate to the impact on the 
appearance of the existing building and on the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area, including the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area, the impact on 
neighbouring amenity as well as sustainability. 

3.1 The application is brought to committee because the property is co-owned by an Islington 
Councillor.  

3.2 The application site comprises a two-storey building, with a roof extension and terrace serving a 
single dwelling house located on the north side of Oakley Crescent.   The application building is 
not listed and the site is located within the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area.  
The surrounding properties are predominantly residential in character with a mixture of historic 
buildings and modern purpose built flat developments ranging from two to six storeys in height. 

3.3 A chimney was erected without planning permission on the roof in association with the wood 
burner stove located on the first floor.   The current application would involve alterations to the 
overall height of this chimney flue to a height of 1.9m above roof level.  This involves a 1.3m Page 84



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

reduction in height from the existing arrangement. The chimney, (as amended) is not considered 
to have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the property by virtue of its 
siting, size and colour (black).  The size and location of the chimney on the roof ensures that it 
would not have a detrimental impact on the residential and visual amenities of any adjoining 
occupiers. The chimney would have a neutral impact on the character and appearance of the 
Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area, particularly having regard to the significant 
variation in building style, age and materials immediately in the vicinity. 

 
 
 
 

4. SITE AND SURROUNDING 

4.1 The property consists of a two storey dwelling, with roof extension and has flat roof and a small 
rear garden. The façade of the building has a vertical emphasis delineated with yellow facing 
brickwork, interspersed with glazing and planters and with a black painted panel at the top of 
each line of windows (at parapet level). The timber front door and panels above these are painted 
black.  The property also benefits from a modern roof extension with black cladding with 
projecting metal grill panels set at regular intervals and timber framed folding doors in the front 
elevation.  Surrounding the roof extension is a large roof terrace which extends along the front 
and side parts of the roof and contains a 1.9-metre-high privacy screen on the south and east 
elevations of the roof, and a 1.1-metre-high balustrade along the west elevation. 

4.2 The building projects forward the adjoining property to the west, No. 6 Oakley Crescent, which 
forms one half of a semi-detached 19th century pair of three storey height residential buildings 
with roof additions. To the south the site adjoins a similar building as the application building, 
which continues around the curve of the road and itself adjoins a more contemporary building 
which incorporates a roof projection and terrace. The site is located within the Duncan 
Terrace/Colebrooke Road Conservation Area. To the rear of the site, the terraced row of 
properties forming the west side of Remington Street are grade II statutory listed.  

 

5. PROPOSAL (IN DETAIL) 

5.1 Retrospective planning permission is sought for the retention of and alterations to the existing 
black metal chimney on the roof at first floor level.  The existing chimney, which was constructed 
without the benefit of planning permission, measures 3.2 metres in height from roof level and 
finished in steel material.  The current application seeks to alter the overall height of the chimney 
and finish.  It is proposed that the chimney, as amended will be reduced to 1.9 metres in height 
and be painted black to reduce its visual appearance.  The chimney is sited on the side part of 
the roof adjacent to the boundary with 8 Oakley Crescent to the south of the existing screening 
between the two properties, 1.7 metres from the front and rear parapets.  Images 7 and 8 below 
show the difference on the front elevation between the existing chimney as constructed and the 
proposed chimney, following amendments.  

Page 85



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 

Image 7: Existing Chimney  

 

Image 8: Proposed Chimney (reduced from 3.2m to 1.9m) 

 

6. RELEVANT HISTORY: 

6.1 P001325 - Erection of a roof extension with roof terrace and conversion of existing integral 
garage into living accommodation. Approved (27/10/2000) 

6.2 P2013/0651/FUL – Roof extension, creation of roof terrace and conversion of garage to habitable 
accommodation.  Approved (04/07/2013) 

6.3 P2014/2699/AOD – Approval of details pursuant to condition 2 (materials) of planning permission 
reference P2013/0651/FUL dated 4 July 2013.  Approved (01/12/2014) 

 ENFORCEMENT: 

6.4 E/2015/0559 – Chimney to roof terrace and breach of condition 6 (windows in the rear elevation 
to be obscurely glazed) of planning permission P2013/0651/FUL Page 86



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

6.5 E/2017/0054 – Metal Chimney. Case still open: awaiting the outcome of this application 

 PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 

6.6 None. 
 
 

7. CONSULTATION 

Public Consultation 
 

7.1 Letters were sent to occupants of 13 adjoining and nearby properties at Oakley Crescent and 
Remington Street on 14 November 2017.  A site notice was displayed outside the site on 16 
November 2017. The public consultation of the application therefore expired on 7 December 
2017, however it is the Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up until 
the date of a decision. 

7.2 At the time of the writing of this report one letter of objection had been received from the public 
with regard to the application.  The issues raised following the council’s consultation can be 
summarised as follows (paragraph numbers refer to where the matter is addressed in this report):  

 Lack of planning permission for the chimney (paragraph 9.4) 

 3 metres of stainless steel is unsuitable for Georgian conservation area (paragraphs 9.4 
and 9.5) 

 Blinding reflections when seen from kitchen window when the sun shines (paragraph 9.6) 

 Glass patio walls of roof terrace built in a ‘V’shape with the chimney outside the patio 
walls ensuring the applicants do not see the chimney.  When they are on their balcony the 
bottom 2m of the chimney is concealed (paragraph 9.8) 

 It is suggested that the chimney is lowered, a chimney stack made of yellow brick is built 
around the chimney and the glass walls of the patio is built in a straight line so the 
chimney is on the owner’s side (paragraphs 9.4 and 9.8) 

 
 
Internal Consultees 
 

7.3 Design and Conservation: Object to the proposal.  The Design and Conservation officer stated 
that the chimney adds visual clutter.   
 

7.4 Acoustics Officer: No objection subject to informative ensuring that the stove is DEFRA 
approved. 
 
External Consultees 
 

7.5 None 
 

8. RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This report 
considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 

National Guidance 

8.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that 
effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. 

Page 87



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment 
of these proposals.  

Development Plan   

8.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.  
The policies of the Development Plan that are considered relevant to this application are listed at 
Appendix 2 to this report. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
8.3 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 

9. ASSESSMENT 

9.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 

 Design and Heritage Considerations 

 Neighbouring Amenity 
 

Design & heritage 

9.2 Islington’s Planning Policies and Guidance encourage high quality design which compliments the 
character of the area. In particular, DM2.1 of Islington’s adopted Development Management 
Policies requires all forms of development to be high quality, incorporating inclusive design 
principles while making a positive contribution to the local character and distinctiveness of an 
area based upon an understanding and evaluation of its defining characteristics.  Development 
Management Policy DM2.3 requires all developments within the setting of a conservation area or 
listed building to be of high quality and has a statutory duty to ensure they preserve or enhance 
the significance of the existing heritage assets.   

9.3 Section 72 (1) of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
the Local Authority to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving the character and 
appearance of Conservation Areas within their area. 

9.4 A chimney was erected on the application site in connection with the installation of a wood 
burning stove, located on the first floor level in the living room area.  The chimney was 
constructed out of metal and projected 3.2 metres in height above the roof, as measured from the 
flat roof. The chimney is located towards the edge of the southern side, approximately 1.7 metres 
from both the front and rear parapets. In its current form, the chimney is considered to be visually 
prominent and out of character with the existing dwelling and surrounding locality.  However, this 
application proposes amendments to the chimney in order to improve its appearance and reduce 
the visual impact on the application site, Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area 
and setting of the listed buildings.  Whilst it is always preferable to apply for planning permission 
prior to commencing development on site, it is possible to apply retrospectively.  This application 
seeks to amend and improve the appearance of the existing chimney.  It is proposed that the 
chimney will remain in the same location but will be reduced in height by 1.3 metres, which would 
give an overall height to the chimney of 1.9 metres as measured from the existing flat roof.  It is 
also proposed that the chimney will be painted black, in order to minimise its visual impact. 

9.5 The Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area Design Guidelines with reference to 
chimneys and flues states (paragraph 3.19) that ‘large flues and vent pipes can often detract from 
the visual amenity of the area.  The Council will therefore ensure that these are appropriately 
located and are of a suitable size and design.’   The Design and Conservation officer objected to 
the proposal as it is considered that the existing chimney adds visual clutter which is harmful to 
the Conservation Area and failing to conserve or enhance its character and appearance.  

9.6 However, officers have assessed the application and considered that, as amended, the chimney 
would not have a detrimental impact on existing heritage assets. It is proposed that the chimney, Page 88



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

as amended, will be approximately the same height as the existing roof extension when 
measured from ground level (the chimney will measure 7.1 metres, whilst the roof extension 
measures 7 metres).  The chimney will also be painted black which will reference the colour of 
the materials used in the existing building.  It is also important to note that the chimney will largely 
be obscured by existing street trees when viewed from the south side of Oakley Crescent.  Image 
2 shows the front of the site during winter months largely reducing its prominence from certain 
views.  Whilst the chimney is still visible from certain oblique angles, officers consider the 
reduction in height and the change in colour would further reduce this visual prominence, as well 
as reduce the reflectiveness of the material thereby reducing the impact on neighbouring 
properties.   Furthermore, Images 9 and 10 below show the street trees during the summer 
months demonstrating how with the trees present the property, and especially the roof, is largely 
obscured by their foliage.  This large canopy cover would ensure a blanket screen of the chimney 
from the front of Oakley Crescent.  It is considered that the reduction in height of the chimney, 
together with the presence of mature street trees, will ensure that the proposal is minimally visible 
and will reduce its visual impact on the character and appearance of the property and wider 
conservation area. 

                  

 

Image 9: Photograph of the front of the site (in summer months) looking north from Oakley 
Crescent 

Page 89



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 

Image 10: Photograph of the front of the site (in summer months) looking east from Oakley 
Crescent 

9.7 Oakley Crescent is characterised by a range of building heights and styles.  The entire street is 
located within the boundary of the Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area and 
includes historic properties located at St Peters House and 5 & 6 Oakley Crescent, together with 
a six storey 1970s residential apartment block and a modern three storey apartment block 
located at 315 City Road, at the junction of Oakley Crescent and City Road  It is considered that 
given the great variety of building styles, age and design in this location as well as existing 
structures on the roof level of other properties, the proposed chimney, as amended would not be 
visually obtrusive and is considered to have minimal adverse impacts on the character and 
appearance of the street scene or wider conservation area, particularly due to screening by 
existing street trees. The chimney would only be visible from limited views within Oakley 
Crescent Iand would therefore continue to have special regard for the Duncan 
Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area. 

9.8 Located to the rear of the site is Remington Street, a terrace of two storey (over basement) 
Grade II listed buildings.  It is therefore important to ensure that the significance of these listed 
building is conserved in accordance with Development Management Policy DM2.3.  Image 11 
below shows a photograph of the site as viewed from Remington Street.  The existing chimney is 
located approximately 15 metres from the front building line of the nearest neighbouring property 
at 8 Remington Street. It is noted that due to the height differences between the buildings as well 
as the size and siting of the existing chimney, it is not visible from street level when viewed from 
Remington Street.  However, the chimney is visible from the upper floor windows of Nos 7-11 
Remington Street as illustrated in Image 12 below and it is acknowledged does cause some 
harm when viewed from these neighbouring properties.   

9.9 It has been suggested by the objector that the balcony is altered to relocate the chimney on the 
inside of the glass balustrading or building a brick chimney stack around the chimney. Whilst the 
objector’s suggestions are noted, it is considered that the addition of a brick built chimney stack 
would increase its visual prominence and would be detrimental to the character and appearance 
of the property and wider locality.  Amendments to the roof terrace to further conceal the chimney 
have not been considered as part of this application as Officers view the remedial action 
proposed sufficient to reduce any impact on the setting of the adjoining Listed Building. Both the 
reduction in height and alterations to the external colour are sufficient to overcome concerns 
raised regarding the size of the existing chimney.  Given its restricted visibility from the rear of 
these adjoining properties, the chimney is considered to cause limited harm to the setting of 
these Grade II listed buildings and does not justify refusal of the application for this reason. Page 90



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 

     Image 11: Photograph of Nos 9 and 10 Remington Street looking towards Oakley Crescent. 

 

 

Page 91



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

               Image 12: Photograph of the chimney as seen from the rear gardens of Remington 
Street 

9.10 Given the above, the proposal is considered to be consistent with the aims of the Council’s 
policies on design and to accord with policies 7.6 (Character) of the London Plan 2016, CS8 
(Enhancing Islington’s character) of the Core Strategy 2011 and Development Management 
Policies DM2.1 and DM2.3.    

 

Neighbouring Amenity 
 
9.11 The application proposes the retention of and alterations to the existing chimney.  The chimney is 

located on the mid-point of the roof, sited 1.7 metres from the front and rear building lines, 
measuring 0.2 metres in width and would be obscured from No 7 Oakley Crescent by virtue of 
the existing roof extension.  The neighbouring property at No 8 does not benefit from any roof 
extensions. It is also considered that the reduction in height and the change in the colour of the 
chimney from stainless steel to black will reduce its impact when viewed from the rear of Nos 7-
11Remington Street.  It is therefore not considered that the proposal will have a detrimental 
impact on the residential or visual amenities of any adjoining occupiers.  As such it would not 
lead to an un-neighbourly form of development and complies with Development Management 
Policy DM2.1. 

Air Quality 

9.12 London Plan policy 7.14 seeks to ensure development ‘minimise increased exposure to existing 
poor air quality.’  The London Borough of Islington is a smoke control area and therefore any 
devices, such as wood burning stoves, must be DEFRA approved or an authorised fuel.  
Unauthorised fuels such as wood can only be burned in some appliances such some stoves. 
Whilst the applicant has not submitted any information to confirm their stove is DEFRA approved, 
an informative is attached to the application advising the applicant that the stove should meet this 
approval.  The Pollution Control Officer reviewed the submission and raised no objections to its 
height or siting.  Subject to confirmation from the applicant that the existing stove is DEFRA 
approved, no objections are raised to the proposal in terms of air quality. 

 

10. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

Summary 

10.1 The retention of and alterations to the existing metal chimney on the roof. in this particular 
location, due to the reduction in height, alterations to the colour and partial screening by existing 
street trees is acceptable in this instance.  The amended size and existing siting of the chimney is 
considered acceptable in this location and would be largely obscured by the existing street trees 
outside the front of the application site.  Furthermore, given the variety of buildings heights and 
designs in this location as well as the existing alterations at roof level, the chimney would not 
result in visual harm to the overall appearance of the property, wider street scene, the setting of 
the Grade II listed buildings to the rear of the site and Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row 
Conservation Area.   

10.2 As such, the proposed development is considered to accord with the policies of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2012, the London Plan 2016, the Islington Core Strategy 2011, the 
Development Management Policies 2013 and Supplementary Planning Documents and as such 
is recommended for approval subject to appropriate conditions. 

 

Conclusion 

Page 92



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

10.3 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out in 
Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATIONS. 

APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

RECOMMENDATION A 
 

That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 

List of Conditions: 
 

1 Approved plans list 

  CONDITION: The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  

 
Design and Access Statement, Site Location Plan, A1 (without Chimney) Front Elevation, 
A2 (without Chimney) Sections, A3 (without Chimney) Floor Plans, B1 Existing (with non-
approved Chimney) Front Elevation, B2 Existing (with non-approved Chimney) Sections, B3 
Existing (with non-approved Chimney) Floor Plans, C1 (Proposed Chimney) Elevations, C2 
(Proposed Chimney) Sections, C3 (Proposed Chimney) Floor Plans. 
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1) (a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as amended 
and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning. 
 

3 Materials (Compliance) 

 CONDITION: The development shall be constructed in accordance with the schedule of 
materials noted on the plans and within the Design and Access Statement.  The 
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the 
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.  

4  

 CONDITION: Within 4 months of the date of the grant of planning consent, the height of the 
chimney as built shall be lowered and the external surface painted black to match the 
details indicated in the proposed drawing ref: C1 (Proposed Chimney) Elevations, C2 
(Proposed Chimney) Sections, C3 (Proposed Chimney) Floor Plans hereby approved. 
 
REASON: To preserve the character and appearance of the host building and surrounding 
conservation area. 

5 Chimney Colour 

 CONDITION: The existing chimney shall be painted black and shall be permanently 
maintained as such in perpetuity, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
REASON: To preserve the character and appearance of the host building and surrounding 
conservation area. 

 
List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has produced 
policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
 
Whilst no pre-application discussions were entered into, the policy advice and guidance 
available on the website was followed by the applicant. Page 93



P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

 
The applicant therefore worked in a proactive manner taking into consideration the policies 
and guidance available to them, and therefore the LPA delivered a positive decision in a 
timely manner in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 

2 Smoke Control 

 The applicant is advised that all of Islington is a smoke control area and therefore any 
device must be a DEFRA approved stove (or an authorised fuel) – 
https://www.gov.uk/smoke-control-area-rules  

 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/smoke-control-area-rules


P-RPT-COM-Main 

 

APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1 National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that effectively 
balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF is a 
material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.  The 
following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this application: 
 
A)  The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  
 

   London’s living places and spaces 
    
Policy 7.14 Improving air quality 
Policy 7.4 Local character 

  Policy 7.6 Architecture 
 

 

  
B) Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 

Spatial Strategy 
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s 
Character) 
 
Strategic Policies 
Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing 
Islington’s Built and Historic Environment) 
 

 
 

C) Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

Design and Heritage 
Policy DM2.1 Design 
Policy DM2.3 Heritage 
 
 

 

3.            Designations 
 
 Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row Conservation Area 
 Article 4(2) Conservation Area 
 Within 100m of a TLRN Road 
 Article 4 Direction A1-A2 (Rest of Borough) 
 
4. Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 
 

The following SPGs and/or SPDs are relevant: 
 

Islington Local Development Plan 
- Urban Design Guide (2017) 
- Duncan Terrace/Colebrooke Row 

Conservation Area Design Guidelines (2002) 
 Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Islington SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

             P2017/3097/FUL 

 

CR

S
T
R

E
E

T
H

A
V

E
R

S
T
O

C
K

Ward Bdy

LB

21.2m

R
E

M
IN

G
T

O
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

CITY ROAD

Cycle Hire Station

COOMBS STREET

CITY GARDEN ROW

Play Area

H
A

V
E

R
S

T
O

C
K

 S
T
R

E
E

T

TCB

Play Area

Posts

B
o
re

a
s 

W
a
lk

O
A
K

LE
Y

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

R
E

M
IN

G
T
O

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T

Theseus W
alk

NELSON PLACE

22.5m

N
E

L
S

O
N

 T
E

R
R

A
C

E

Angelis

1 to 45

69

93

to

23

to

64

45

69

13

9

1 
to

 1
0

Apartments

1
8

19

7

16

1
7

1
9

2
1

1

40
to

5

21

6

7

1
5

1
3

1

1

1
6

16

1

E
l S

u
b
 S

ta

26

St Peters
House

2
4

2
5

2
6

1
8

1

30

to

36
to

24

41

29

35

291

2

H
a
ve

rs
to

ck

1

3
 to

 1
2

P
la

ce

4
5

3

Shelters

293

3
1

F
a
lco

n
 C

o
u
rt1

3

2
5

2
2

2
6

3
3

305

301

3
1

1

309 to 313

3
4

1 to 8

315

8Langdon Court

1 to 36

5

8

320 to 324

13

326
a

326

328

319

330 to 336

1 to 23

1
2

Angel Gate

16

14

15

9

Offices

X

X

XX

X

X

X

X

X

X

XXXXX

XXX

X

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A5 Order of Business
	A6 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	B1 125 Packington Street,London, N1 7EA
	Map P2015-5085-FUL 125 Packington Street, Islington, London,  N1 8NX

	B2 29 Allingham Street, London, N1 8NX
	Map P2017-4729-FUL 29 Allingham Street, Islington, London, N1 8NX

	B3 7 Oakley Crescent, Islington, London, EC1V 1LQ
	Map P2017-3097-FUL 7 Oakley Crescent, Islington, EC1V 1LQ


